
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Community Safety and 
Environment Policy and 

Accountability Committee
Agenda

Wednesday 5 September 2018
7.00 pm

Small Hall - Hammersmith Town Hall

MEMBERSHIP

Administration Opposition
Councillor Bora Kwon (Chair)
Councillor Iain Cassidy
Councillor David Morton
Councillor Ann Rosenberg

Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler

CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill
Committee Co-ordinator
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2094
E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk

Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 

Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building.

Date Issued: 10 December 2018

www.lbhf.gov.uk/Councillors-and-Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Community Safety and Environment 
Policy and Accountability Committee

Agenda
5 September 2018

Item Pages

1.  MINUTES 4 - 7
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 3 July 2018.

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent.

At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken. 

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.

Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.

4.  HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE 8 - 55
This paper sets out the statutory duties and requirements that the 
Council is required to perform to ensure that its highway network is safe 



in wintery conditions.
5.  WEED REMOVAL STRATEGY 56 - 60

This paper outlines the current method of non-chemical weed removal 
and the ongoing work to understand and improve on the current process 
for the public highway.

6.  DRAFT TRANSPORT LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 61 - 111
The draft Local Implementation plan shows how the Council intends to 
implement the Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy in the borough.

7.  COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 112 - 113
The Committee is asked to consider its work programme for 2018/19.



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety 
and Environment 

Policy and 
Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 3 July 2018 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, 
Ann Rosenberg, and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
 
Other Councillors: Councillors Wesley Harcourt and Belinda Donovan 
 
Officers: Nick Austin (Director of Resident Services) and Valerie Simpson (Bi-
Borough Head of Environmental Health) 
 

 
1. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR  

 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler was elected as Vice-Chair of the 
Community Safety and Environment Policy and Accountability Committee for 
the 2018-19 Municipal Year. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 January 2015 were approved. 
 

5. AN INTRODUCTION TO SCRUTINY IN HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM  
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The Chair said that this briefing note gave an overview of the role of scrutiny, 
how it worked, how to ensure it was effective, and the remit of the committee.  
 
This item was noted for information only. 
 

6. REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY  
 
Valerie Simpson (Bi-Borough Head of Environmental Health) gave a 
presentation outlining the main changes made to the Council’s statement of 
gambling policy (SGP), the timeline for consultation and the issues for 
consideration. She noted that that the policy must be reviewed and publicly 
consulted upon, every three years. It was time for the policy to be reviewed 
and undergo a public consultation exercise so that the latest version would be 
agreed by Full Council in October 2018 and published at the beginning of 
January 2019.  
 
The policy had been revised to reflect legal and other changes. In addition, it 
emphasised the gambling commission’s codes of practice, particularly those 
referring to the protection of children and vulnerable people. The draft revised 
SGP 2019 had been prepared and was currently the subject of a 12-week 
public consultation. 
 
Valerie Simpson explained that three statutory licensing objectives had been 
included in the policy. These considered preventing gambling from being a 
source of crime and disorder, ensuring that gambling was conducted in a fair 
and open way and protecting children and other vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling.  
 
Councillor David Morton said that it was necessary to contact resident 
associations within the borough to understand their expectations and for this 
to be logged and recorded. He said that he would provide details to Valerie 
Simpson on who should be consulted.  
 
Valerie Simpson said that many adult gaming centres had changed into bingo 
premises. This allowed the entitlement for other categories of machines on 
the premises and allowed the sale of alcohol which was prohibited within 
adult gaming centre premises. Councillor David Morton asked what the 
Council’s policy was on casino licences. Nick Austin (Director of Resident 
Services) explained that the Council had a no casino resolution in this 
borough and this would be refreshed as part of the next policy.  
 
The Chair noted that Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) was referred to 
frequently throughout the presentation, compared to child truancy and 
questioned if this was a growing concern within the borough. Valerie Simpson 
said that the Council wanted to emphasise CSE concerns as there had been 
indications that incidents could be linked to licensed establishments, although 
the team were not aware of any specific reports, in the borough. Additionally, 
this was an ongoing concern nationwide.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler expressed her concerns around the 
sale of alcohol permitted at bingo premises and asked whether spot checks 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

were carried out to monitor and identify the risks involved. Valerie Simpson 
said that officers regularly visited high risk premises to ensure that operators 
were being responsible and adhering to licence conditions. Furthermore, spot 
checks recently took place in conjunction with the gambling commission and 
this was something that officers were keen to continue going forward. 
 

7. WORK PROGRAMMING 2018/19  
 
The Chair welcomed the Committee to consider its work programme for 
2018/19. Nick Austin provided an overview of the key priorities for the service 
and noted that there were some items from the previous work programme 
that had not been considered in 2017/18 such as parks police and electrical 
vehicle charging points. 
 
He also noted that a report on recycling would be brought to a future meeting 
subject to the approval of the Chair and Councillor Wesley Harcourt. This 
would provide an overview on the Council’s plan for recycling, the issues it 
faced and options on how this would be improved. 
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler noted that she would like a discussion 
around street scene and pavements, particularly around the Council’s weed 
killing strategy. She explained that residents had complained about the 
amount of weed on the pavements. In addition, she noted that fly tipping had 
increased within the borough, therefore the strategy for this should also be 
reviewed. Nick Austin said that weed control on pavements was an issue 
across the borough and agreed that a report would be brought to a future 
Committee for consideration. Furthermore, it was important that the concerns 
of residents were addressed and therefore, noted that he would bring a 
presentation on comparatives around different techniques that could be used 
to tackle this issue. Councillor Wesley Harcourt said that the Council used a 
product called Glyphosate to kill weeds in the past, however this was stopped 
due to the toxic effects associated with this to residents.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler also noted that she was keen to 
discuss the Council’s gritting policy in further detail and what actions were 
taken to minimise the risks during snowfall. She said that pavements were 
dangerous around this time of the year as snow eventually turned into ice and 
posed a danger to residents. Councillor Wesley Harcourt said that schools 
across the borough closed last year due to the weather conditions and agreed 
that the policy needed further exploration to ensure appropriate measures 
were in place. 
 
Cllr Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler said that she would like to review the parks 
and open spaces policy, including the overall strategy for dog bins. This 
should be widened to include normal waste bins in parks, graffiti removal, 
public toilets and the Council’s pest policy.  
 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg noted that she was contacted by residents in 
relation to the electrical car charging points and was keen to discuss the 
Council’s approach to electrical vehicle charging points in further detail. In 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

addition, she would like a discusscussion around the progress made and 
what plans were in place for the future. 
 
 
  
The Chair explained that the main focus for the Septemeber PAC would be 
on crime and security as this had not been a key area for discussion in the 
past. She said that she would like to see a report on the Council’s strategy 
around it’s CCTV network, moped and bike crime. Additionally, she would like 
an overview around crime and disorder, including a presentation on the 
Council’s key priorities. She requested that Councillor Sue Fennimore 
(Deputy Leader) and third sector organisations be invited to the September 
PAC meeting to discuss this in further detail. Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-
Fowler asked that the discussion also referenced ward panels.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler noted that parking also needed 
reviewing. She was keen to explore the financial implications of the parking 
system and comparisons between Ringo and other operators. Furthermore, 
she also mentioned telephone parking, visitor permits and 20p zones and the 
effects of 20mp zones on traffic flow, including the accident rates in the 
borough before and after the introduction of 20mph. 
 

 
 

Meeting started: 7:00pm 
Meeting ended: 8:15pm 

 
 
Chair   

 
 
 
 
Contact officer: Amrita Gill 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 0208 753 2094 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 7



1 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT 
 POLICY AND ACCOUNTIBILITY COMMITTEE  

 
5 September 2018  

HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE 
 

Report of the Director of Resident Services 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 

Key Decision: No 
 

Other services consulted: None 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director:  
Mahmood Siddiqi, Director for Transport and Highways 
 

Report Author: Ian Hawthorn -  Head of  
Highways Maintenance and Projects 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3058 
E-mail: ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This paper sets out the statutory duties and requirements that the Council is required 

to perform to reasonably ensure that’s its highway network is safe in wintery 
conditions. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

2.1. The Committee is requested to review and comment on the contents of the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 

 
3.1. Introduction 
 

The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham considers its highway network to 
be the largest and most visible asset for which it is responsible. It is used daily by the 
majority of people and is fundamental to the economic, social and environmental 
wellbeing of our community. It helps to shape the character and quality of the local 
area that it serves and makes an important contribution to wider council priorities, 
including regeneration, social inclusion, community safety, education and health.  

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

 
Section 41(1A) of the Highways Act 1980 requires highway authorities to ensure, so 
far as is reasonably practicable, that safe passage along a highway is not 
endangered by snow or ice.  
 
This strategy aims to also align to the requirements of the Code of Practice: Well-
Managed Highway Infrastructure (October 2016) (the Code), Section B.7 Winter 
Service. 
 
Section 150 of the Highways Act 1980 requires highway authorities to remove 
obstructions in a highway arising from the accumulation of snow.  
 
It is the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham’s (Hammersmith and Fulham) 
policy to: 
 

 as far as it is reasonably practicable, prevent its highways from becoming obstructed 

by an accumulation of snow and ensure that safe passage along its highways is not 

endangered by snow or ice; 

 ensure that a co-ordinated approach is taken across London through the 

participation in the London Technical Advisors Group Winter Service Practitioners 

Group 

 
- The current Winter Service Policy states that the Council grits the carriageways of 

the borough depending on the Priority of the road when road surface temperatures 
drop to 0.5°C or below. The footways of the borough are gritted when snow falls and 
settles.  
 

- We are currently reviewing and updating the Council’s existing Winter Service Policy 
to align it to the new Well-Maintained Infrastructure Code of Practice.  
 

- The new code is risk based and boroughs need to have a Network hierarchy which 
considers the usage and risk of each road within the borough. From this new 
hierarchy, routes can be developed based on risk. For instance, the footways leading 
to schools, tube stations and hospitals would all be gritted on a precautionary basis 
as they will be part of a priority route. 

 
- Cllr Harcourt requested that we review our existing policy with a view to carry out 

precautionary footway gritting. This review is currently in progress. 
 

- Last winter, we used 713t of grit which is very unusual and gritted on 32% of the 
days across the five month season. In comparison more, standard years are 
2015/2016 when we used 312.5t and in 2016/2017 we used 392.5t.  
 

Page 9



3 
 

 
 
 
 

- The bar graph below shows the amount of grit used per month over the 2017/2018 
winter season.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



4 
 

3.2. Decision process and gritting routes 
 

Winter Maintenance Rota – Four officers make up the winter maintenance rota 
during winter months. Officers work in one-week rotas and are the responsible 
decision makers for sending out the gritter teams across the borough. They are on 
24 hours a day for that week and receive three weather forecast from the council’s 
weather forecast consultant Meteogroup during the day and evening. They analyse 
the forecast and make decisions on what gritting needs to be done to meet likely 
hazards on the roads. Hoar frost and black ice are particularly dangerous hazards 
that effect the decision. Any major change in weather conditions and the officer is 
phoned by the boroughs forecaster to assess the weather conditions and to make a 
decision on extra gritting runs. The winter rota last from 1st November to 31st March. 

 
 

The transport infrastructure in LBHF is of local and national importance and to fulfil 
its potential, it is crucial that the highway network is adequately grittered to allow the 
network to function. We currently split the road network into three priority routes and 
with the remaining roads in a default route.  
 
The P1 route covers all the main and high-risk routes that are not Transport for 
London Road Network (TLRN) roads (TLRN Roads are the responsibility of the 
Greater London Authority (GLA) and are operated by Transport for London (TfL)).  
 
The network comprises of: - 
 

 Principal roads 

 Locally strategic roads 

 Main bus routes 

 

These roads form the backbone of the Road Network within Hammersmith and 

Fulham and as such the Winter Service Operation should be that of not allowing 

snow to lay or ice to form on the carriageway surface as far as is reasonably 

practicable. Therefore, these roads are subject to precautionary gritting. 
Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department will ensure 
that the salting programme starts within 2 hours prior to the forecast of frost. Routes 
will be completed within 2 hours of starting.  The carriageway network is broken 
down in to three priority routes and all other roads are P3 for long term adverse 
wintery conditions.  
 
P2 route comprises of: - 
 

 Medium use roads 

 Roads of some strategic importance 

 

These roads, though not as high risk as Carriageways P1, are important roads to 

keep open and safe for the free movement of all traffic off the major roads.  The 

Winter Service Operation will ensure that salting of these roads will commence 

immediately upon completion of the Carriageways P1 roads.  

 

Page 11



5 
 

In line with the Code, Hammersmith and Fulham will treat Carriageways P1 routes 

before Carriageways P2 routes (although in practice some Carriageways P2 routes 

may be started before all Primary routes are completed to maximise efficiency) 

 

Precautionary gritting on the Carriageways P2 network will be instructed if: 

 

 snow is forecast 

 day time temperatures are not forecasted to rise above 0.5°C 

 prolonged periods of sub-zero temperatures 

 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department will ensure 

that the salting programme starts within 2 hours prior to the forecast of frost. Route 

will be completed within 4 hours of starting. 

 

The P2A Route comprises of: - 

 Roads that assist the treatment of Footways P1 

 

These roads contribute the least to the movement of vehicles in the borough and 

therefore are only gritted in the event of snow on the carriageway and only if 

resources become available. The P2A network will be gritted prior to the 

Carriageways P3 network, as the Carriageways P2A network provides access to the 

Footways P1. 

 
 

3.3. Challenges 
 
There is an increasing widespread recognition of the importance of highway 
maintenance, and the high value placed on it by users and the wider community. 
Keeping the network running is increasing important in adverse conditions. 
 

- The Salt Barn at Bagley’s Lane has previously had a temporary roof to protect the 
salt. This has raised issues with local businesses and residents. The stored salt top 
layer turns into large rocks of salt following wet weather. These rocks damage the 
gritter belt on the gritters which takes the vehicle out of service. So Corporate 
Property Services have been approached to find a new more suitable area for the 
salt where a roof can be installed. 
 

- Deciding a budget for Winter Maintenance is difficult as winters vary in impact and 
length. It is important to note we grit for hazardous ice conditions and not just snow. 
Long range future forecast suggests we should expect more adverse weather 
conditions including harder winters. 
 

- To accommodate precautionary footway gritting, some street cleansing services 
would be suspended and the resources used to provide gritting along key routes.  A 
financial implication would only arise from the Serco contract if there was a need to 

Page 12



6 
 

catch up ahead of schedule for the roads not cleansed due to gritting. Resources 
can also be used to remove snow and ice as needed. 

 
3.4. Budget 
 

Description Current Budget 17/18 

Winter maintenance £60,000 

 
 

 
 
4. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1 Winter Maintenance Policy Donna Kelly - 3040 Transport and 
Highways 

2 Winter maintenance Plan  Donna Kelly - 3040 Transport and 
Highways 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Draft Policy Review 
Appendix 2 – Draft Winter Maintenance Plan 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
Winter Service Policy 1 

 

2
0
1
7
/1

8
 W

in
te

r 
S
e

rv
ic

e
 P

o
lic

y
     

Hammersmith and Fulham – 2017/18 Winter Service Policy  

 

Prepared by 
Donna Kelly 

Approved by 
Ian Hawthorn 

Issue Date 
14/12/2017 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revision Number Issue Date Summary of Changes 

1 30/10/2017 Additional information has 
been added to the policy 
regarding the Councils salt 
stocks and new salt store 
roof. 

2   

   

Page 14



 
Winter Service Policy 2 

 

Contents 
Introduction ................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Aim and objective ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

Policy Summary ........................................................................................................................................... 5 

Further Information and Explanation ..................................................................................................... 6 

Statutory Requirements .......................................................................................................................... 6 

National Guidance on the Delivery of the Winter Service ............................................................... 6 

Policy Details ........................................................................................................................................... 7 

Departmental Responsibilities ..................................................................................................... 7 

Winter Standby and Operation Period ....................................................................................... 8 

Carriageway Hierarchy and Priority ............................................................................................ 9 

Footway Hierarchy and Priority .................................................................................................. 9 

Response and Treatment Times ................................................................................................ 10 

Weather Forecasting Arrangements ................................................................................................... 11 

Call-out Arrangements ......................................................................................................................... 12 

Salt ........................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Hammersmith Bridge and Lyric Square ............................................................................................. 12 

Public Relations ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

Appendix .................................................................................................................................................... 14 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction 

 

Page 15



 
Winter Service Policy 3 

 

This 2017/18 Winter Service Policy (WSP) sets out the Councils policy describing how it aims to 

discharge its statutory duty to ensure, as far as reasonably practicable, to keep the highway free 

from ice and snow.  The actions described in this policy are those that are considered to be the 

minimum required in order to discharge this duty. 

The policy is reviewed annually.  Although new guidance has been issued during the summer of 

2010 there has been no change in legislation.  There is no evidence to suggest the WSP requires 

fundamental change although any evidence, such as records of accidents and claims continue to 

be monitored and reviewed.  

The WSP has been reviewed and incorporates the revised recommendations set out by the UK 

Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG) in the Code of Practice for Highway Maintenance Management 

(“Well Maintained Highways”), the results and recommendations of the pan London reviews of 

winter service by London Technical Advisors Group (LoTAG) (in 2009 and 2010) and Council 

officers advice following experience of the two severe weather events of February 2009 and 

December 2009/January 2010. 

The WSP and operational plans will continue to be saved under separate documents.  The policy 

being produced by the Council and the operational plans produced by the service providers 

responsible for delivering policy requirements, in conjunction with Council officers. 

Winter Service continues the basis of the operation being delivered from the Bagley’s Lane Depot, 

which accommodates around 900 tonnes of de-icing rock salt. 

Resilience networks (footways and carriageways) have been introduced following Code of practice 

and Pan-London recommendations.  The Resilience routes/sites describe a minimum network 

that should be gritted and are those that should continue to be treated in emergency situations 

(e.g. salt shortages) to ensure core services can be delivered as well as keeping open bus routes, 

transport interchanges and key service routes agreed with TfL. 

LBHF Housing sites are treated/gritted by Housing resources and contractors.  The Transport & 

Technical Service Department (TTS) shall assist with the supply of salt only when it has capacity 

to do so. 

 

Page 16



 
Winter Service Policy 4 

 

Aim and objective 

 
To provide an efficient and cost-effective response to keep the highway free of snow, ice, and 

frost, deliver the authorities statutory duty and keep the resilience network open at all times. 

In addition to discharging its statutory duty the Council will aim to provide support to stakeholders 

such as London Buses and emergency service depots and sites within the Borough when it has 

capacity to do so during severe winter weather.  This can only occur once officers consider the 

Councils statutory duty has been discharged. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 
Winter Service Policy 5 

 

Policy Summary 

 
The 2017/18 LBHF Winter Service Policy requires the following response and treatment times. 

Condition or 

Activity 

Hierarchy Response Times Treatment Times 

Carriageways 

Precautionary 

gritting ice, frost, 

and snow 

(reacting on 

basis of forecast) 

Resilience and P1 Gritting commences 
at time instructed or 
within 2 hours of 
emergency call out 

2 Hours 

P2 Gritting commences 
at time instructed or 
within 2 hours of 
emergency call out 

4 Hours 

P3A and P3 No precautionary gritting for frost of P3 
roads 

Emergency 

gritting ice, frost, 

and snow 

(reacting on 

request of police 

or council 

instruction) 

Resilience and P1 To commence within 
2 hours of emergency 
call out 

2 Hours 

P2 To commence within 
2 hours of emergency 
call out 

4 Hours 

P2A and P3 
(attendance to 
isolated individual 
sites only) 

To commence within 
2 hours of emergency 
call out 

2 Hours 

Response to 

Snow 

(carriageways) 

Resilience and P1 Gritting commences 
at time instructed or 
within 2 hours of 
emergency call out 

2 Hours 

P2 Gritting commences 
at time instructed or 
within 2 hours of 
emergency call out 

4 hours 

P3A and P3 Following 
completion of P1 and 
P2. Gritting 
commences at time 

Within 48 hours 
from time P1 
commenced 

Page 18



 
Winter Service Policy 6 

 

instructed or within 2 
hours of emergency 
call out 

Snow ploughs 

are not used 

   

Footways 

Reports of frost 

and isolated 

reports of ice 

All Reactive gritting only 
to reports of danger. 
To commence within 
2 hours of emergency 
call out 

 

Snow and 

widespread ice 

Resilience and P1 Gritting commences 
at time instructed or 
within 2 hours of call 
out 

ASAP but no later 
than 24 hours of 
instruction 

P2 Following 
completion of P1 

48 Hours from time 
P1 commenced 

All other footways Following 
completion of P2 

5 Days from time P1 
commenced 

 

 

Further Information and Explanation 

 
Statutory Requirements 

The Highways Act 1980 (and as amended) places a duty on highway authorities to ensure, as far 

as is reasonably practicable, that the highway is kept free from ice and snow.  The Highways Act 

provides a special defence in that Highway Authorities are only required to do that what is 

reasonable. 

National Guidance on the Delivery of the Winter Service 

Recommendations and advice on the delivery of a winter maintenance service are set out in codes 

of practice; the most current document being the Code of Practice – “Well Maintained Highways” 

which includes a chapter on Winter Service.  A revision to Chapter 13, winter service was issued 

Page 19



 
Winter Service Policy 7 

 

in 2009.  Further guidance has been issued throughout 2010 and those recommendations are 

incorporated where relevant. 

All the advice for delivering this service recommends authorities set out a WSP and an Operational 

Plan.  The policy sets out the authority’s intentions for meeting these statutory requirements and 

the plan sets out how this will- be delivered. 

Since the severe weather in February 2009 which affected the whole of the country, the 

Department for Transport (DfT) appointed consultants to review the Code of Practice and issued 

supplementary guidance – “Learning the Lessons of the Severe Weather in February 2009“, with 

recommendations for future winters. 

The London Technical Advisors Group (LOTAG) have also issued supplementary guidance to all 

London highway authorities to establish a Pan-London resilience network which would be given 

priority during exceptional severe weather and to encourage collaborative working both for salt 

and transport (Keep London Moving through the Severe Weather and the more recent publication 

Practical Steps for London Highway Authorities. 

TfL have provided a website containing all London related guidance, as considered by the London 

Winter Service Review Steering Group at the following address: 

http://content.tfl.gov.uk/weather-information-services.pdf 

Policy Details 

 

Departmental Responsibilities 

The table below sets out the responsibilities for the 2017/18 Winter Season. 

Service Owner Contractor / 
Supplier 

Winter Service Policy 
management, review, and 
development 

TTS N/A 

Weather forecasting arranging  TTS MeteoGroup Ltd 

Monitoring weather and conditions 
and determining required action – 
roads 

TTS FM Conway 

Page 20

http://content.tfl.gov.uk/weather-information-services.pdf


 
Winter Service Policy 8 

 

Monitoring weather and conditions 
and determining required action - 
footways 

Environment Leisure 
& Resident Services 
(ELRS) working with 

TTS 

Serco, supported by 
Quadron 

Issuing instructions for gritting 
roads 

TTS FM Conway 

Issuing instructions gritting 
footways 

ELRS Serco, supported by 
Quadron 

Recording of actions / winter 
service treatment delivered on 
roads – what, when and where 

TTS N/A 

Recording of actions / winter 
service treatment delivered on 
footways – what, when and where 

ELRS N/A 

Salt Ordering TTS Cleveland Potash 
Ltd 

Response to frost on footways 
following reports of danger in 
isolated and limited areas only 

TTS FM Conway 

Preparation of winter service 
delivery plan – Carriageways   

TTS FM Conway 

Preparation of winter service 
delivery plan – footways 

ELRS with input 
from TTS for frost 

and ice on footways 

SERCO 

 

Winter Standby and Operation Period 

The winter service standby period and operation shall be 1 November to 31 March annually.  This 

period shall be extended pre-season and post season if weather conditions require. 

There shall be no defined low/high winter season. 

The operation may be required anytime, 24 hours per day, seven days per week and the contractors 

shall be on standby for this period.  Client officers shall also be on call to receive information and 

issue instructions throughout this period 24 hours per day. 

 

Page 21



 
Winter Service Policy 9 

 

Carriageway Hierarchy and Priority 

The carriageway hierarchies for winter service are shown on the attached plan, and listed in 

Appendix A (Drawing number 8215/8/4) 

The priority of carriageways for precautionary gritting, post gritting and snow clearing are in 

accordance with the hierarchies of carriageways as defined by Well Maintained Highways – Code 

of Practice for Highway Maintenance Management and Winter Maintenance Code of Practice.  

However, other local issues such as: 

The Councils Resilience route is the minimum network required to enable essential services to the 

public to continue, this includes links to the strategic network, access to key facilities and other 

transport needs.  The resilience network is also the Priority One (P1) road network. 

P1 roads are those with the highest use and strategic importance.  They include all the classified A 

road network as well as some other locally important roads and those roads that have the main 

bus routes.  P1 Roads are detailed in Appendix A.  The P1 road networks also forms the boroughs 

Resilience Network. 

Priority Two (P2) roads are the medium use roads and of some strategic importance, but are 

secondary when compared against the priority one network.  P2 roads are detailed in Appendix A. 

Priority Three A (P3A) roads are those short sections of roads that shall be treated in order to 

assist access to treat a high priority footway area.  In terms of hierarchy P3A roads are the same 

as Priority Three (P3) roads with the same treatment times.  They should be treated following the 

completion on P2 roads, or for efficiency or operational reasons at the same time.  P3A roads are 

detailed in Appendix A. 

Priority Three (P3) roads are all other roads within the borough, being mainly residential streets, 

also known as tertiary roads. 

All Priority roads are subject to annual review.  Any amendments are subject to the agreement of 

the Cabinet Members for TTS. 

 

Footway Hierarchy and Priority 

The footway priority for post gritting / snow clearance are broadly in accordance with the footway 

hierarchies as defined by Well Maintained Highways – Code of Practice for Highway Maintenance 

Management and Winter Maintenance Code of Practice. 

Page 22



 
Winter Service Policy 10 

 

The footway hierarchies for winter service are shown on the attached plan (Drawing number 

82154/8/5) and listed in Appendix B. 

The Councils footway resilience sites are currently the same as P1 roads but as this is the first time 

a resilience footway network/list of sites has been defined further refinement is likely to be 

required. 

P1 footways are the footways within the busiest areas and of highest amenity.  

P2 footways has some additional importance or amenity value due to the use of the street of site 

adjacent to the street above a normal residential street.  P2 footway sites are treated following the 

completion of P1 sites.  

For logistical and operational reasons, the borough is further split into P2-North, P2-Central, and 

P2-Southern areas.  

The remaining footways are treated once P1 and P2 footways have been completed.  Depending 

on circumstance at the time consideration should be given to treat the next refuse collection zone 

to help minimise missed collections.  

All Priority footways are subject to annual review.  Any amendments are subject to the agreement 

of the Cabinet Members for TTS and ELRS. 

 

Response and Treatment Times 

Response and treatment times shall be as per section 3 above. 

The policy is to keep those areas of the highway, where there is a significant accident risk, free 

from frost, ice, and snow by ensuring that those roads that give rise to the greatest risk of accident 

are treated first.  For carriageways, this means precautionary gritting the P1 roads within two hours 

and in more severe conditions secondary routes within four hours of commencement.  The 

remaining tertiary routes are not precautionary gritted.  Call out times are amended so that the 

gritting route is completed prior to the time at which the road surface temperature is forecast to 

fall to zero degrees Celsius. 

During prolonged periods of sub-zero temperatures repeat treatment should be considered 

although it would not normally be necessary to complete more than two treatments per 24-hour 

Page 23



 
Winter Service Policy 11 

 

period.  It is necessary to manage salt stocks prudently and consideration shall be given to residual 

levels of salt on the road surface. 

Due to the very low level of risk, number of complaints, reports of accidents and claims made 

against the authority there shall generally be no precautionary gritting of the footways for frost 

and ice.  Officers shall continue to monitor the number of complaints, reports of accidents, and 

claims and should there be an increase then this policy shall be reviewed. 

For footways, the policy is to provide a reactive service only and gritting where snow has formed 

or accumulated.  There is also a small emergency highway resource that can respond to isolated 

reports to frost and ice in a limited capacity.  Water mains failures are excluded from this as they 

are referred to Thames Water to sign and guard and undertake the necessary water mains repair. 

On wide footways, it is not necessary to clear the full extent and width of the footway but to clear 

sufficient area to allow safe passage.  On P2 roads and below the requirement is to treat a minimum 

1.2m wide strip at the back of the footway. 

 

Weather Forecasting Arrangements 
 

TTS shall arrange the weather forecasting service.  Both TTS and ELRS shall monitor the weather 

daily throughout the standby period. 

Dedicated weather forecasting services are available for frost and snow predictions for the London 

region.  The forecasts predict the conditions as well as road surface temperature.  Weather 

forecasting is currently provided by the MeteoGroup, part of Associated Press. The service 

includes site weather forecasts online as well as emailing them and delivering them as text messages 

to mobile phones.  The service also provides a fully auditable record of all conditions for the 

period. 

There is currently some consideration being given to the use of ice detection sensors and the 

Council will trial some in 2018/2019.  

Page 24



 
Winter Service Policy 12 

 

Call-out Arrangements 
 

The weather forecasting service (as described above) is used by both TTS & ELRS client officers 

to determine whether (and when) the WSP should come into operation and whether to issue the 

necessary callout instructions.   

The decision-making process is based on Well Maintained Highways, with some minor 

amendments - please see Appendix C. 

Salt 
 

The capacity of the salt store at Bagley’s Lane depot is sufficient to store approximately 1,000 

tonnes of rock salt for highway gritting. 

FM Conway use space next to the salt store to park the gritter machines.  This provides operational 

advantages but means that the salt can only be stocked up to 900 tonnes.  Officers have deemed 

that the benefits of having the gritter machines in close proximity out way the risks of running out 

of salt. 

The operational plan is not to allow the stock to drop below 600 tonnes before replenishing the 

stock (raised from 400 tonnes). However, the current salt stock (as of 30/10/2017) is 

approximately 500 tonnes. The intention is to use up this salt before ordering more as the existing 

stock is several years old.  

Salt spread rates are in accordance with Well Maintained Highways and are detailed in Appendix 

D.  The salt was covered during the summer months with a tarpaulin but as this is not a permanent 

dry solution the uncovered salt spread rates shall be used for this winter. A roof was constructed 

over the salt store with the building works completed on Monday 23rd October. When the salt 

stock is replenished, the covered salt store spread rates can be used.  

 
Hammersmith Bridge and Lyric Square 

Special provisions are made for Hammersmith Bridge and Lyric Square. 

The Hammersmith Bridge structure is metal and therefore susceptible to corrosion.  Non-salt 

based de-iceant solution is therefore used on the carriageway (it has been agreed that salt can be 

Page 25



 
Winter Service Policy 13 

 

used on the bridge’s footways).  The product currently used is IceBlastPlus, a potassium acetate 

solution by Chela (www.chela.co.uk) is non-hazardous and appropriate for use over waterways. 

Lyric Square Fountain in King Street, Hammersmith has an automatic cut-off if temperatures fall 

below 4oC.  This cut-off prevents the water from freezing in the pumps and prevents any escaped 

water from freezing on the adjacent footway.  The same de-iceant is used in Lyric Square in 

proximity to the fountain as the usual salt de-iceant must be kept out of the pumps.  During the 

winter period, and particularly at times of freezing and near to freezing temperatures, TTS will 

inspect the fountain to ensure this temperature sensor and automatic cut-off is working.  From 

time to time the Client may request the contractor makes these ad-hoc inspections and provide 

feedback. 

FM Conway undertake de-icing of Hammersmith Bridge carriageway.  Gritting of the footway of 

Hammersmith Bridge is by Serco.  Lyric Square is a pedestrian area and will be treated by Serco, 

however FM Conway may be requested to do this at certain times during the winter period and 

the Highway Emergency Services vehicle will carry Chela at all times to provide this service. 

Public Relations 

 

All enquiries about winter service from the press shall be dealt with by the Council’s Press Office. 

All enquiries from members of the public about the WSP will be dealt with by TTS officers (usually 

Donna Kelly or Ian Hawthorn).  Queries regarding operations will be dealt with by TTS or ELRS 

officers (carriageways/footways) or by the Press Office. 

During times of severe weather, the Council’s Communications team will update the Council 

website and sent out Twitter alerts.  

Appendix E includes the self-help guidance issued by the DfT.  The press office shall ensure this 

message is issued / published in advance of winter and they shall also ensure a summary of the 

policy is published to help address public expectations.  

Page 26

http://www.chela.co.uk/


 
Winter Service Policy 14 

 

Appendix 

 

Appendix A – Carriageway Priority List 

 

Priority 3 and 3A is all other roads. See the drawing for priority 3 and 3A. 

 

Page 27



 
Winter Service Policy 15 

 

Appendix B – Footway Priority List 

 

Priority 3 is all other footways. 

Page 28



 
Winter Service Policy 16 

 

Appendix C – Decision Making Process – Carriageways 

Decision Matrix Guide 

Road Surface 
Temperature 

Precipitation 

Predicted Road Conditions 

Wet Wet Patches Dry 

May fall to 
0oC or below 

No rain 

No hoar frost 

No fog 

Salt before 
frost 

Salt before 
frost 

No action 
likely, monitor 

weather 

Expected to 
fall below 
0.5oC 

No rain 

No hoar frost 

No fog 

Expected hoar 
frost 

Expected frost 

Salt before frost 

Expected rain 
before freezing 

Salt after rain stops 

Expected rain 
during freezing 

Salt before frost, as required during rain and 
again after rain stops 

Possible rain 

Possible hoar 
frost 

Possible fog 

 

Salt before frost 
Monitor 
weather 

conditions 

Expected Snow Salt before snow fall 

The decision to undertake precautionary treatment should, if appropriate, be 
adjusted to take account of residual salt or surface moisture.  All decisions 

require continuous monitoring and review. 

 

Page 29



 
Winter Service Policy 17 

 

Precautionary gritting of roads shall be to the Resilience Route / P1 route only, save for when 

snow is forecasted and or when day time temperatures are not expected to rise above 0.5° C, or 

prolonged periods of sub-zero temperatures in which case P2 roads shall also be precautionary 

gritted.  

 

Page 30



 
Winter Service Policy 18 

 

Appendix D – Treatment Guide 

 

Weather Conditions 

Road Surface Conditions 

Road Surface Temperature (RST) 

Salt spread rate (g/m2) 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST at or above -2oC 

10 - 20 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST below -2oC and above -5oC 

20 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST at or below -5oC and above -10oC and dry or 
damp road conditions 

20 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST at or below -5oC and above -10oC and wet 
road conditions (existing or anticipated) 

2 x 20 

Light snow forecast (<10mm) 20 

Medium / heavy snow forecast 2 x 20 

Ice Formed (minor accumulations) 20 

Ice formed 2 x 20 

Snow covering exceeding 30mm 20 - 40 (successive) 

Hard pack snow / ice 20 - 40 (successive) 

HARD PACK SNOW / ICE SALT / ABRASIVE 
(SUCCESSIVE) 

 

Rate of spread for precautionary treatment should be adjusted to take account of residual salt or 

surface moisture. 

 

Page 31



 
Winter Service Policy 19 

 

Appendix E – Self Help Guidance 

 

Clearing Snow and Ice from Pavements and Public Spaces 

This guide is designed to help you to act in a neighbourly way by safely clearing snow and ice 

from pavements and public spaces. 

Will I be held liable if someone falls on a path I have cleared? 

There is no law preventing you from clearing snow and ice on the pavement outside your 

property, pathways to your property or public spaces. 

It is very unlikely that you would face any legal liability, if you are careful, and use common sense 

to ensure that you do not make the pavement or pathway clearly more dangerous than before.  

People using areas affected by snow and ice also have responsibility to be careful themselves. 

What can I do to help clear snow and ice from pavements and public spaces? 

Practical advice from highway engineers is given below.  This is not a comprehensive list. 

• Start early: it is much easier to remove fresh, loose snow compared to compacted ice that 

has been compressed by people walking on it. 

• Do not use hot water.  This will melt the snow, but may replace it with black ice, increasing 

the risk of injury. 

• Be a good neighbour: some people may be unable to clear snow and ice on paths leading to 

their property or indeed the footway fronting their property.  Snowfall and cold weather 

pose difficulties for them gaining access to and from their property or walking to the shops. 

• If shovelling snow, consider where you are going to put it, so that it does not block people’s 

paths, or block drainage channels.  This could shift the problem elsewhere. 

• Make a pathway down the middle of the area to be cleared first, so you have a clear surface 

to walk on.  Then you can shovel the snow from the centre to the sides. 

• Spreading some salt on the area you have cleared will help to prevent any ice forming.  Table 

salt or dishwasher salt will work, but avoid spreading on plants or grass as it may damage 

them.  A few grams (a tablespoon) for each square metre you clear should work.  The salt 

found in salting bins will be needed for keeping roads clear. 

Particular care and attention should be given to steps and steep gradients to ensure snow and ice 

is removed.  You might need to apply additional salt to these areas. 

Page 32



 
Winter Service Policy 20 

 

• Use the sun to your advantage.  Removing the top layer of snow will allow the sun to melt 

any ice beneath; however, you will need to cover any ice with salt to stop it refreezing 

overnight. 

• If there is no salt available, then a little sand or ash is a reasonable substitute.  It will not have 

the same de-icing properties as salt but should offer grip under foot. 

Where can I find out more information about what I can do in an emergency? 

There are various websites which offer information on how to prepare for the Winter period.  

The MET office has a useful guide which can be found here: 

http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/learning/get-ready-for-winter 

For residents, borough specific information can be found here: 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Transport_and_Streets/Roads_and_pavements/Sno

w_and_gritting/48811_Gritting_and_Snow_Clearance.asp 

Why is the Government publishing this information? 

During the severe winter in 2009/10, many people across the country worked very hard to keep 

our transport network open.  This included many members of the public who cleared pavements 

and public spaces around their homes.  Some people, however, were deterred from taking action 

to clear pavements and other public spaces because they feared that they might be sued. 

An independent review of the transport sector’s response to the severe weather of 2009/10 

recommended that the DfT should publish this note on good practice for members of the 

public in clearing snow and ice from footways and other public spaces.  The Local Government 

Association published a report on behalf of Councils which reached the same conclusion. 

The Government response, in preparation for Winter can be found here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/winter-weather-uk-government-response 

 

 

 

Page 33

http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/learning/get-ready-for-winter
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Transport_and_Streets/Roads_and_pavements/Snow_and_gritting/48811_Gritting_and_Snow_Clearance.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Transport_and_Streets/Roads_and_pavements/Snow_and_gritting/48811_Gritting_and_Snow_Clearance.asp
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/winter-weather-uk-government-response


 
Winter Service Policy 21 

 

Appendix F – Communication to stakeholders 

 

To align LBHF with other London Boroughs, a notification email will be sent out each to notify 

stakeholders of planned action in times of severe weather. This notification will not be sent out 

daily.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

 

 

 

 

WINTER SERVICE PLAN 

 

FOR THE 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM 

 

 

 

 

 

   Date: October 2018 

   Version: 0.2 

     

  

Page 35



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 2 of 21 

 

 

Contents 

1. Background .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Operational Roles .......................................................................................................................... 3 

3. Winter Service Risk-Based Approach ............................................................................................ 5 

3.1. Carriageways ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Carriageways P1 Network ....................................................................................................................... 5 

Carriageways P2 Network ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Carriageways P2A .................................................................................................................................... 6 

Carriageways P3 Network ....................................................................................................................... 6 

3.2. Footways .................................................................................................................................... 7 

Footways P1 Network ............................................................................................................................. 7 

Footways P2 Network ............................................................................................................................. 7 

Footways P3 Network ............................................................................................................................. 7 

3.3. Contingency arrangements - Resilience Network ..................................................................... 8 

3.4. Clearing snow by mechanical means ......................................................................................... 8 

4. Operational Periods ....................................................................................................................... 8 

5. Weather Forecasting ..................................................................................................................... 8 

6. Preparation of Winter Maintenance Operational Plans ................................................................ 9 

7. Decision Making during Winter Service ........................................................................................ 9 

7.1. When to Treat ............................................................................................................................ 9 

7.2. Response Times ......................................................................................................................... 9 

7.3. Spread Rates .............................................................................................................................. 9 

7.4. Post Service Action .................................................................................................................. 10 

8. Procurement and Management of Salt / Grit and De-Icing Fluids .............................................. 10 

9. Competency ................................................................................................................................. 12 

Appendix A – Carriageway Networks .................................................................................................... 13 

Appendix B – Footway Networks .......................................................................................................... 14 

Appendix C – When to Treat ................................................................................................................. 15 

Appendix D – Response Times .............................................................................................................. 16 

Appendix E – Spread Rates .................................................................................................................... 18 

Appendix F – Self Help Guidance .......................................................................................................... 19 

Appendix G - Neighbouring Authorities ................................................................................................ 21 

 

Page 36



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 3 of 21 

 

 

1. Background 

Section 41(1A) of the Highways Act 1980 requires highway authorities to ensure, so far as is reasonably 

practicable, that safe passage along a highway is not endangered by snow or ice.  

This strategy aims to also align to the requirements of the Code of Practice: Well-Managed Highway 

Infrastructure (October 2016) (the Code), Section B.7 Winter Service. 

Section 150 of the Highways Act 1980 requires highway authorities to remove obstructions in a highway 

arising from the accumulation of snow. 

It is the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham’s (Hammersmith and Fulham) policy to: 

 as far as it is reasonably practicable, prevent its highways from becoming obstructed by an 

accumulation of snow and ensure that safe passage along its highways is not endangered by snow 

or ice; 

 ensure that a co-ordinated approach is taken across London through the participation in the LoTAG 

Winter Service Practitioners Group 
 

In addition to discharging its statutory duty Hammersmith and Fulham will provide support to stakeholders 

such as London Buses and emergency service depots and sites within the borough when it has capacity to 

do so during severe winter weather.  This can only occur once officers consider the borough’s statutory 

duty has been discharged. 

Resilience Networks (footways and carriageways) have been reemphasised in the Code and are also 

incorporated in the recommendations of the London Technical Advisors Group (LoTAG) document Keep 

London Moving Through Severe Winter Weather – Practical Steps for London Highway Authorities (October 

2010). The Resilience Network describes the routes that provide maximum contribution to the continuity of 

daily life, such as the movement of freight and commuting, as well as supporting emergency services, and is 

agreed with London’s strategic highway authority Transport for London (TfL). It is Hammersmith and 

Fulham’s aim to align its Resilience Network with the Code and LoTAG’s document. 

2. Operational Roles 

Hammersmith and Fulham are the Employer and oversees the Winter Service Providers for operational 

management of the Winter Maintenance Service. The Winter Service Providers are: 

 FM Conway Ltd for carriageways 

 Serco Group PLC supported by Quadron Services Ltd for footways and other pedestrian areas. 
 

During periods of severe winter weather Hammersmith and Fulham will co-ordinate the collection and 

dissemination of information. The table below depicts the operational roles.  

Table 1: Winter Service Operational Roles 

Operational Role Organisation 

Page 37



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 4 of 21 

 

 

Operational Role Organisation 

Client for Winter Maintenance of Roads Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department 

Client for Winter Maintenance of Footways and 

other Pedestrian Areas 

Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & 

Resident Services 

Preparation of Winter Maintenance Strategy Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department 

Supplying Weather Forecasts MeteoGroup Ltd 

Obtaining & Monitoring Weather Forecasts for 

Roads 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department 

Obtaining & Monitoring Weather Forecasts for 

Footways and other Pedestrian Areas 

Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & 

Resident Services 

Preparation of Winter Maintenance Operational 

Plans 

Winter Service Providers 

Route Design Winter Service Providers 

Treatment Routing Planning Winter Service Providers 

Vehicles and Plant Winter Service Providers 

Procurement and Storage of Salt / Grit and De-

icing fluids 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department 

Stakeholder Engagement Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department 

Decision Making / Instructing gritting for Roads Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department 

Decision Making / Instructing gritting for Footways 

and other Pedestrian Areas 

Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & 

Resident Services 

Operational Supervision Winter Service Providers 

Operative Resources Winter Service Providers 

Competency Winter Service Providers, Hammersmith and 

Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department 

& Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure 

Page 38



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 5 of 21 

 

 

Operational Role Organisation 

& Resident Services 

Performance Monitoring Winter Service Providers, Hammersmith and 

Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department 

& Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure 

& Resident Services 

3. Winter Service Risk-Based Approach 

Hammersmith and Fulham are responsible for the management and maintenance of 224km of network. 

Hammersmith and Fulham use a risk-based approach to its Winter Maintenance Service in line with the 

Code. This approach allows Hammersmith and Fulham to assess where to deliver its Winter Service with 

maximum effect, thereby mitigating risk to the public and at the same time making best use of both the 

available financial and human resources. 

Priority is set in line with the recommendations of the Code, as set in section B.7 Winter Service, whereby 

resilience is at the heart of prioritising routes. The key networks for both carriageway and footway, as 

identified below, provide the highest contribution to the economy and well-being of the businesses and 

residents of Hammersmith and Fulham. The routes identified as not to be treated are the ones that 

generate the least demand and therefore are deemed less important. 

For plans of carriageways covered, see Appendix A – Carriageway Networks. 

For a plan of footways covered, see Appendix B – Footway Networks. 

3.1. Carriageways 

Hammersmith and Fulham assess the risk on carriageways in line with its utilisation. Four levels of priority 

for winter service are defined on the carriageways as follows: - 

 Carriageways P1 Network 

The list of Carriageways P1 routes covers all the main and high-risk routes that are not Transport for 

London Road Network (TLRN) roads (TLRN Roads are the responsibility of the Greater London Authority 

(GLA) and are operated by Transport for London (TfL)). The Carriageways P1 network comprises of: - 

 Principal roads 

 Locally strategic roads 

 Main bus routes 
 

These roads form the backbone of the Road Network within Hammersmith and Fulham and as such the 

Winter Service Operation should be that of not allowing snow to lay or ice to form on the carriageway 

surface as far as is reasonably practicable. Therefore, these roads are subject to precautionary gritting. 

Page 39



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 6 of 21 

 

 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department will ensure that the salting 

programme starts within 2 hours prior to the forecast of frost. Routes will be completed within 2 hours of 

starting. 

 Carriageways P2 Network 

The Carriageways P2 network comprises of: - 

 Medium use roads 

 Roads of some strategic importance 
 

These roads, though not as high risk as Carriageways P1, are important roads to keep open and safe for the 

free movement of all traffic off the major roads.  The Winter Service Operation will ensure that salting of 

these roads will commence immediately upon completion of the Carriageways P1 roads.  

In line with the Code, Hammersmith and Fulham will treat Carriageways P1 routes before Carriageways P2 

routes (although in practice some Carriageways P2 routes may be started before all Primary routes are 

completed to maximise efficiency) 

Precautionary gritting on the Carriageways P2 network will be instructed if: 

 snow is forecast 

 day time temperatures are not forecasted to rise above 0.5°C 

 prolonged periods of sub-zero temperatures 
 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department will ensure that the salting 

programme starts within 2 hours prior to the forecast of frost. Route will be completed within 4 hours of 

starting. 

 Carriageways P2A  

The Carriageways P2A network comprises of: - 

 Roads that assist the treatment of Footways P1 
 

These roads contribute the least to the movement of vehicles in the borough and therefore are only gritted 

in the event of snow on the carriageway and only if resources become available. The P2A network will be 

gritted prior to the Carriageways P3 network, as the Carriageways P2A network provides access to the 

Footways P1. 

 Carriageways P3 Network 

The Carriageways P3 network comprises of: - 

 All other roads; mainly residential 
 

These roads contribute the least to the movement of vehicles in the borough and therefore are generally 

not gritted. 

  

Page 40



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 7 of 21 

 

 

Table 2: Lengths of Carriageways Priority Networks 

Priority Length (km) 

Carriageways P1 42.03 km (41.5 km of salt and 0.53 km of de-icing fluid) 

Carriageways P2 20.90 km 

Carriageways P2A 15.20 km 

3.2. Footways 

Hammersmith and Fulham deem the footway network to carry less risk with regards to winter weather 

than the carriageway asset. The council has assessed the number of complaints, reports of accidents and 

claims made against the authority and has deemed that no precautionary gritting of footways is necessary. 

Therefore, the policy for footway is to provide a reactive service and gritting only takes place in priority 

areas where snow has formed or accumulated. Salt on the footway is spread manually and therefore there 

are no set spread rates. 

Three levels of priority for snow are defined on the footways as follows: - 

 Footways P1 Network 

The list of Footways P1 covers all areas of high footfall and highest amenity. 

Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & Resident Services will ensure that the salting programme 

starts within 2 hours of the initial snow or frost warning. Routes will be completed within 24 hours of 

starting. 

 Footways P2 Network 

The Footways P2 network comprises footways of some strategic value and therefore have either a higher 

usage or amenity value due to adjacent sites such as hospitals or minor train stations. 

Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & Resident Services will ensure that the salting programme 

starts following the completion of the Footways P1 network. Routes will be completed within 48 hours of 

starting. 

 Footways P3 Network 

The Footways P3 network comprises residential road footways. 

These footways contribute the least to the pedestrian movement in the borough and therefore, as the 

lowest priority, and therefore are generally not gritted. 

Table 3: Lengths of Footways Priority Networks 

Priority No. of Sites 

Footways P1 53 

Footways P2 53 

Page 41



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 8 of 21 

 

 

3.3. Contingency arrangements - Resilience Network  

The Resilience Network in Hammersmith and Fulham is the Carriageways P1 network described in section 

3.1 above. This forms part of the London Wide Resilience Network and, if there are extreme conditions 

where salt supplies are limited or other resources are restricted (e.g. fuel supplies), these will be salted, and 

other salting may be curtailed to ensure preservation of scarce resources. 

3.4.  Clearing snow by mechanical means 

Hammersmith and Fulham have assessed winter conditions in London over the past 30 years and has 

considered it inappropriate to use snow ploughs, blowers or similar plant even if there was sufficient snow 

fall to justify the expense, due to the urban nature of the network, with parked cars and pedestrians in 

almost all streets. It is noted that there is no snow plough within the equipment permanently available for 

Hammersmith and Fulham, 

4. Operational Periods 

This procedure is operated during periods when winter maintenance is required to be undertaken. The 

Winter Maintenance period is from 1st November until 31st March the following year. This period will be 

extended pre-season and post-season when weather conditions dictate. In year extensions will be 

communicated in writing by the Highways Manager. The Winter Maintenance Period has no defined low or 

high risk of winter treatment requirement periods and will be managed according to need. The Highways 

Manager has the authority to instruct the Winter Service Provider to be in any of the following readiness 

states if necessary. 

Table 4: Operational Readiness States 

Readiness State Definition 

Continuous On duty 24 hours  

Stand-by Personnel committed to be available for duty within the Response time after call out 

from home or elsewhere. This is generally the operational stance in Hammersmith 

and Fulham 

Call-out Off duty personnel available for duty as demand arises but without prior 

commitment to be available 

5. Weather Forecasting 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department will arrange the weather forecasting 

service.  Both Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department and Hammersmith and 

Fulham Environment Leisure & Resident Services will monitor the weather daily throughout the standby 

period. 

Dedicated weather forecasting services are available for frost and snow predictions for the London region.  

The forecasts predict the conditions as well as road surface temperature.  Weather forecasting is provided 

Page 42



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 9 of 21 

 

 

by the MeteoGroup, part of Associated Press. The service produces site weather forecasts online, as well as 

in email. The service also provides a fully auditable record of all conditions for the period. 

There is currently some consideration being given to the use of ice detection sensors and the Council will 

trial some in 2018/2019. Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department will consider 

aligning and utilising TfL’s temperature and ice detection sensors situated along the A40, A4 and A406 

corridors. 

6. Preparation of Winter Maintenance Operational Plans 

FM Conway Ltd and Serco Group PLC, supported by Quadron Services Ltd, as the current Winter Service 

Providers will prepare and submit Winter Maintenance Plans by 30th September every year detailing the 

following:  

 Details of personnel in charge of the service 

 Contact details of personnel and call centres 

 Treatment routes and lengths 

 Area plans of routes detailing start and end points, direction of travel and lengths of dead running 

(these area plans will be to scale, clearly detailing junctions, slip roads and interface points 

between treatment routes) 

 Route cards with instructions regarding the treatment route for the vehicle operator 
 

7. Decision Making during Winter Service 

7.1. When to Treat 

MeteoGroup provide Hammersmith and Fulham with a weather forecasting service for the winter service.  

Using information received from MeteoGroup through either weather prediction bulletins Hammersmith 

and Fulham decide when to start gritting and inform the Winter Service Providers.  

Forecasts are received 36 hours in advance alongside a projection over the next 2 to 10 days to enable 

forward planning. 

Decisions on treatment will be taken by Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service 

Department and Hammersmith and Fulham Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & Resident 

Services as per the decision matrix in Appendix C – When to Treat. 

7.2. Response Times 

A summary of all Response Times can be found in Appendix D – Response Times. 

Call out times may be amended to ensure the gritting route is completed prior to the time at which the 

road surface is forecast to fall to 0°C. During prolonged periods of sub-zero temperatures repeat 

treatments will be considered, although it would not normally be necessary to complete more than 2 

treatments every 24-hour. 

7.3. Spread Rates 

Page 43



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 10 of 21 

 

 

To be effective, salt must be spread evenly and at rates to suit prevailing weather conditions. Spread rates 

can be found in Appendix E – Spread Rates. 

7.4. Post Service Action  

Following any winter maintenance service completed by the Winter Service Providers, dated and signed off 

gritting sheets recording what has been carried out will be sent to the Hammersmith and Fulham officers 

electronically within 24 hours of finishing the gritting work. 

Carriageways and footways where accumulations of salt remain will be swept. 

All vehicles and equipment should be cleaned, lubricated and checked by the Winter Service Providers 

daily. 

8. Procurement and Management of Salt / Grit and De-Icing Fluids 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department buy salt/grit from Cleveland Potash 

Ltd. This is stored at the Baley’s Lane depot which can store approximately 1,000 tonnes of rock salt for 

highway gritting. 

FM Conway use space next to the salt store to park the gritter machines.  This reduces the salt storage to 

approximately 900 tonnes, however the benefits of having all the winter service plant near the salt stock far 

outweigh the disbenefits of the reduced storage. To mitigate the risk of running out of salt the stock will 

not be allowed to drop below 600 tonnes before replenishing (raised from 400 tonnes).  

Salt spread rates are in accordance with Winter Service Guidance for Local Authorities and are detailed in 

Appendix E – Spread Rates.  Hammersmith and Fulham’s salt stock is currently covered with a tarpaulin; 

however Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department are currently looking at a 

permanent cover solution to avoid spoilage. 

De-icing fluids are used in areas susceptible to corrosion or to clogging due to the rock salt. The de-icing 

fluid used in Hammersmith and Fulham is IceBlastPlus, a potassium acetate solution produced by Chela 

(www.chela.co.uk), which is non-hazardous and appropriate for use over waterways. 

The metal structure of Hammersmith Bridge is susceptible to corrosion, therefore IceBlastPlus is used on its 

carriageway and footway. FM Conway Ltd undertake de-icing of Hammersmith Bridge carriageway. Gritting 

of the footway of Hammersmith Bridge is carried out by Serco Group PLC.   

Lyric Square Fountain in King Street, Hammersmith has an automatic cut-off if temperatures fall below 4°C.  

This cut-off prevents the water from freezing in the pumps and prevents any escaped water from freezing 

on the adjacent footway.  IceBlastPlus is used in Lyric Square in proximity to the fountain as the usual salt 

cannot be applied close to the pumps. During the winter period, and particularly at times of freezing and 

near to freezing temperatures, Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department will 

inspect the fountain to ensure this temperature sensor and automatic cut-off is functioning as intended.  

Hammersmith and Fulham may request the contractor makes these ad-hoc inspections and provide 

feedback if internal resources are not available. 

Page 44

http://www.chela.co.uk/


London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 11 of 21 

 

 

Lyric Square is a pedestrian area and will be hand treated using a spray gun by Serco Group PLC, however 

FM Conway Ltd may be requested to do this at certain times during the winter period if resources 

elsewhere are not available. The Highway Emergency Services vehicle will also carry IceBlastPlus at all times 

to provide this service when required. 

Stakeholder Engagement / Operational Communications 

During normal working hours, communications between Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department and the FM Conway Ltd as the Winter Service Provider for roads will be by phone and 

instruction by email. Records of salt utilisation and available salt stock must be maintained daily. 

During normal working hours, communications between Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & 

Resident Services and the Serco Group PLC as the Winter Service Provider for footways and pedestrian 

areas will be by phone and instruction by email. Outside of normal working hours, communication between 

the Hammersmith and Fulham and the Winter Service Providers will be by phone and instruction by email 

… 

A Hammersmith and Fulham staff rota list will be made available. 

Hammersmith and Fulham’s neighbours are TfL, Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, and the London 

Boroughs of Ealing, Hounslow, Brent, Richmond and Wandsworth.  Liaison with each authority is carried 

out periodically to ensure an understanding of their Winter Service plans and ensure, as far as reasonably 

practicable, these are aligned. 

All public enquiries about winter service from the press will be dealt with by the Council’s Press Office. All 

enquiries from members of the public about the Winter Service Providers will be dealt with by 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department officers. Queries regarding 

operations will be dealt with by Hammersmith and Fulham Transport & Technical Service Department or 

Hammersmith and Fulham Environment Leisure & Resident Services officers or by the Press Office. During 

times of severe weather, the Council’s Communications team will update the Council website and send out 

Twitter alerts.  

Appendix F – Self Help Guidance includes the self-help guidance issued by the DfT.  The press office will 

ensure this message is published in advance of Winter and they will also ensure a summary of the strategy 

is published to help address public expectations. 

The Key Contacts for Hammersmith and Fulham and the Winter Service Providers are as follows: 

Table 5: Key Contacts List 

Role Name Contact Number Email Address 

Duty Manager (Hammersmith and 

Fulham Transport & Technical 

Service Department) 

Ian Hawthorn  Ian.Hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk 

Duty Manager (Hammersmith and 

Fulham Transport & Technical 

Donna Kelly  Donna.Kelly@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 45



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 12 of 21 

 

 

Role Name Contact Number Email Address 

Service Department) 

Duty Manager (Hammersmith and 

Fulham Environment Leisure & 

Resident Services) 

   

Contract Manager (FM Conway Ltd)    

Contract Manager (Serco Group 

PLC) 

   

Council Press Office    

MeteoGroup     

 

Key contacts for all neighbouring authorities can be found in Appendix G - Neighbouring Authorities 

9. Competency 

Winter Service Providers will ensure their staff are suitably trained and competent to undertake the Winter 

Service.  Training records will be provided to Hammersmith and Fulham in advance of the winter season.  

Hammersmith and Fulham will also maintain training records for its staff.  

Page 46



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 13 of 21 

 

 

Appendix A – Carriageway Networks 

  

Page 47



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 14 of 21 

 

 

Appendix B – Footway Networks 

  

Page 48



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 15 of 21 

 

 

Appendix C – When to Treat 

Road Surface 
Temperature Precipitation 

Predicted Road Conditions 

Wet Wet Patches Dry 

May fall to 0oC 
or below 

No rain 

No hoar frost 

No fog 

Salt before frost 

Salt before frost 
No action likely, 
monitor weather 

Expected to fall 
below 0.5oC 

No rain 

No hoar frost 

No fog 

Expected hoar 
frost 

Expected frost 

Salt before frost 

Expected rain 
before freezing 

Salt after rain stops 

Expected rain 
during freezing 

Salt before frost, as required during rain and again after rain stops 

Possible rain 

Possible hoar 
frost 

Possible fog 

 

Salt before frost 
Monitor weather 
conditions 

Expected Snow Salt before snow fall 

The decision to undertake precautionary treatment should, if appropriate, be adjusted to take account 
of residual salt or surface moisture.  All decisions require continuous monitoring and review. 

  

Page 49



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 16 of 21 

 

 

Appendix D – Response Times 

Carriageways 

Condition or Activity Hierarchy Response Times Treatment Times 

Precautionary gritting 

ice, frost, and snow 

(reacting on basis of 

forecast) 

Carriageways 

P1 

Gritting commences at time 

instructed or within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 

2 Hours 

Carriageways 

P2 

Gritting commences at time 

instructed or within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 

4 Hours 

Carriageways 

P2A and 

Carriageways 

P3 

No precautionary gritting for frost of P3 roads 

Emergency gritting 

ice, frost, and snow 

(reacting on request 

of police or council 

instruction) 

Carriageways 

P1 

To commence within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 
2 Hours 

Carriageways 

P2 

To commence within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 
4 Hours 

Carriageways 

P2A and 

Carriageways 

P3 

To commence within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 
2 Hours 

Response to Snow 

(carriageways) 

Carriageways 

P1 

Gritting commences at time 

instructed or within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 

2 Hours 

Carriageways 

P2 

Gritting commences at time 

instructed or within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 

4 hours 

Carriageways 

P2A and 

Carriageways 

P3 

Following completion of P1 and 

P2. Gritting commences at time 

instructed or within 2 hours of 

emergency call out 

N/A 

  

Page 50



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 17 of 21 

 

 

Footways 

Condition or Activity Hierarchy Response Times Treatment Times 

Reports of frost and 

isolated reports of ice 
All 

Reactive gritting only to reports 

of danger. To commence within 

2 hours of emergency call out 

 

Snow and 

widespread ice 

Footways P1 

Gritting commences at time 

instructed or within 2 hours of 

call out 

ASAP but no later than 

24 hours of 

instruction 

Footways P2 Following completion of P1 
48 Hours from time P1 

commenced 

All other 

footways 
Following completion of P2 

5 Days from time P1 

commenced 

  

Page 51



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 18 of 21 

 

 

Appendix E – Spread Rates 

Weather Conditions 

Road Surface Conditions 

Road Surface Temperature (RST) 

Salt spread rate (g/m2) 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST at or above -2oC 
10 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST below -2oC and above -5oC 
20 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST at or below -5oC and above -10oC and dry or damp road conditions 
20 

Frost or forecast frost 

RST at or below -5oC and above -10oC and wet road conditions (existing or 
anticipated) 

2 x 20 

 

Precautionary Treatment Before Snow or Freezing Rain Salt spread rate (g/m2) 

Light snow forecast (<10mm) 20 

Medium / heavy snow 2 x 20 

Freezing rain 2 x 20 

 

Ice or Compacted Snow Salt spread rate (g/m2) 

Ice formed (minor accumulations) 20 

Ice formed 2 x 20 

Snow covering exceeding 30mm 20 & 40 (successive) 

Hard pack snow / ice 20 & 40 (successive) 

  

Page 52



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 19 of 21 

 

 

Appendix F – Self Help Guidance 

Clearing Snow and Ice from Pavements and Public Spaces 

This guide is designed to help you to act in a neighbourly way by safely clearing snow and ice from 

pavements and public spaces. 

Will I be held liable if someone falls on a path I have cleared? 

There is no law preventing you from clearing snow and ice on the pavement outside your property, 

pathways to your property or public spaces. 

It is very unlikely that you would face any legal liability, if you are careful, and use common sense to ensure 

that you do not make the pavement or pathway clearly more dangerous than before.  People using areas 

affected by snow and ice also have responsibility to be careful themselves. 

What can I do to help clear snow and ice from pavements and public spaces? 

Practical advice from highway engineers is given below.  This is not a comprehensive list. 

 Start early: it is much easier to remove fresh, loose snow compared to compacted ice that has been 

compressed by people walking on it. 

 Do not use hot water.  This will melt the snow, but may replace it with black ice, increasing the risk 

of injury. 

 Be a good neighbour: some people may be unable to clear snow and ice on paths leading to their 

property or indeed the footway fronting their property.  Snowfall and cold weather pose difficulties 

for them gaining access to and from their property or walking to the shops. 

 If shovelling snow, consider where you are going to put it, so that it does not block people’s paths, 

or block drainage channels.  This could shift the problem elsewhere. 

 Make a pathway down the middle of the area to be cleared first, so you have a clear surface to walk 

on.  Then you can shovel the snow from the centre to the sides. 

 Spreading some salt on the area you have cleared will help to prevent any ice forming.  Table salt or 

dishwasher salt will work but avoid spreading on plants or grass as it may damage them.  A few 

grams (a tablespoon) for each square metre you clear should work.  The salt found in salting bins 

will be needed for keeping roads clear. 
 

Particular care and attention should be given to steps and steep gradients to ensure snow and ice is 

removed.  You might need to apply additional salt to these areas. 

 Use the sun to your advantage.  Removing the top layer of snow will allow the sun to melt any ice 

beneath; however, you will need to cover any ice with salt to stop it refreezing overnight. 

 If there is no salt available, then a little sand or ash is a reasonable substitute.  It will not have the 

same de-icing properties as salt but should offer grip under foot. 
 

Where can I find out more information about what I can do in an emergency? 

There are various websites which offer information on how to prepare for the Winter period.  

Page 53



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham October 2018 

Winter Service Plan Version 0.2 

 

 Page 20 of 21 

 

 

The MET office has a useful guide which can be found here: 

http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/learning/get-ready-for-winter 

For residents, borough specific information can be found here: 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Transport_and_Streets/Roads_and_pavements/Snow_and_gritting/488

11_Gritting_and_Snow_Clearance.asp 

Why is the Government publishing this information? 

During the severe winter in 2009/10, many people across the country worked very hard to keep our 

transport network open.  This included many members of the public who cleared pavements and public 

spaces around their homes.  Some people, however, were deterred from taking action to clear pavements 

and other public spaces because they feared that they might be sued. 

An independent review of the transport sector’s response to the severe weather of 2009/10 recommended 

that the DfT should publish this note on good practice for members of the public in clearing snow and ice 

from footways and other public spaces.  The Local Government Association published a report on behalf of 

Councils which reached the same conclusion. 

The Government response, in preparation for Winter can be found here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/winter-weather-uk-government-response 

 

Page 54

http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/learning/get-ready-for-winter
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Transport_and_Streets/Roads_and_pavements/Snow_and_gritting/48811_Gritting_and_Snow_Clearance.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Transport_and_Streets/Roads_and_pavements/Snow_and_gritting/48811_Gritting_and_Snow_Clearance.asp
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/winter-weather-uk-government-response


 

Appendix G - Neighbouring Authorities 

Borough 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 f

o
r 

Lo
n

d
o

n
 

 K
en

si
n

gt
o

n
 a

n
d

 

C
h

el
se

a 

Ea
lin

g 

H
o

u
n

sl
o

w
 

B
re

n
t 

R
ic

h
m

o
n

d
 

W
an

d
sw

o
rt

h
 

Winter Service Start 
Date 

October November      

Winter Service End 
Date 

April March      

Service Provider(s) 
FM 

Conway 

FM 

Conway 
     

Key Contact(s) 
Robert 

O’Rourke 

Ian 

Hawthorn 

Tony 

Singh 
Satbir Gill 

Jonathan 

Westell 

Brian 

Humphris 

Biran 

Humphris 

Key Contact(s) Number        

Key Contact(s) Email 
Address 

       

Date Last Contact        

 

 

Page 55



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTIBILITY COMMITTEE  

 
5th September 2018 

 

 

WEED REMOVAL STRATEGY 
 

Report of the Director of Resident Services 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected:  
All 
 

Accountable Director: Simon Davis, Assistant Director 
 

Report Author: 
Lesley Gates, Waste Contract Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Lesley.Gates@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This paper outlines the current method of non-chemical weed removal and the 

ongoing work to understand and improve on the current process for the public 
highway. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. The Committee is requested to review and comment on the contents of the 

report. 
 

3. BACKGROUND 
 

3.1. Introduction 
 

Hammersmith & Fulham Council is the first council in London to halt the use 
of potentially harmful sprays in parks and open spaces. Spraying of 
glyphosate stopped in June 2016 and moved to a non-chemical weed removal 
service. Reasons for introducing non-chemical spraying was to create a bio 
diversity as well as protecting London’s habitat against any long term 
chemical effect containing glyphosate. 
 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5



Since April 2017, we have been using hot water system of removal, covering 
244 Km pavement and 618 hectares of open space. The hot water treatment 
is applied three times a year on our pavements and the dead weeds are then 
manually removed.   
 
This method involves using a hot water, low pressure applicator, directed at 
the base of the weeds. The water is transported using a short, low wheelbase 
vehicle (operated by Serco subcontractors Weedfree).   
 
The positives of moving to chemical free alternatives are: 
 

 No residual chemical effects on the soil and environment. Can also be 
used near watercourses. 

 Hammersmith & Fulham is seen as a leader in alternative weed 
treatment by a lot of other local authorities; officers have been 
contacted by authorities as far afield as Wales and Scotland.  

 The remaining uncertainty over the licencing of Glyphosate means if it 
ever is banned Hammersmith & Fulham will not be thrown into a 
saturated market where everyone is bidding for a limited number of 
available machines 

 Meets the council’s green agenda 
 
 
3.2  Challenges 
 

The hot water application doesn’t kill the root or remove weeds.  Removal is 
therefore done manually by sweepers on their cleansing day between 
applications.  Unfortunately, when weather conditions give rise to rapid weed 
growth, the sweepers are limited to the amount which can be removed 
manually on the day of sweep in conjunction with the rest of their work.   
 
Last year the Council received several complaints in relation to weeds and 
this was because the technology used was new which meant the weeding 
contractors were learning about the rates of application and the resources 
needed to cover the area. The optimum frequency of treatment and will take 
some time to determine as we experience varying seasonal weather but we 
can see from complaint trends that this has improved. This year, the treatment 
has been quicker with a reduction of a 12 week cycle to an 8 week treatment 
cycle and manual removal by the sweepers.   
 
The table below shows the annual comparative numbers of enquiries 
received.  Council Officers have been proactively reporting areas of weed 
growth so manual removal can be targeted quickly before enquiries arise.  
This seems to have been met with success as the number of enquiries are 
lower this year. 

 

 2017 2018 

April 9 6 

May 50 15 

Page 57



June 69 34 

July 95 24 

 
3.3 Our findings 

 
Our experience over the first year of application has found: 
 

• Seasonal variations affect growth, causing the weeds to react differently each 
year.  This year, the growth expected in June/July, came in April/May.  The 
hot weather then restricted growth and we expect are more rapid growth 
towards the end of the season. 
  

• Growing season is lengthening Originally April-September; now April – end of 
October.  Milder winters are having less of an impact on suppressing weeds. 
 

• The type of pavement affects the type of weeds and growth which would 
impact how we treat different areas.  e.g. high footfall areas and repaved 
areas have very few weeds, cobbles are generally grassy but are easily 
tackled with hot water 
 

• The more applications, the weaker the root becomes and the rate of growth 
reduces year on year.  In the second year, the weeds are much smaller. 
 

• Woody growth requires manual removal in a similar way to glyphosate but 
they are more challenging to remove as the hot water can’t break these types 
of plants down.   
 

• An increase in tree basal shoots which require manual pruning and impacts 
on the treeworks team. 
 
 

3.4  Next Steps 
 
Based on the information from 2017We’ve issued an innovation challenge to 
contractors to come up with new and effective methods of removal and are 
continuing to work closely with current providers. 
 
As a result: 

 

 An additional treatment crew have been added to complete the next 
cycle of treatments quicker 
 

 The scheduled gap between application cycles has been removed 
so they will start again immediately at the end of a cycle 
 

 A complaint squad react to complaints to clear the worst areas 
ahead of steam treatment. 
 

Page 58



 Combination trials are currently being undertaken to give 
comparative results in different streets: 

 
- steam method with immediate manual removal; 

  
- steam method with routine manual removal within 7 days according 

to usual street cleansing regime 
 

- steam method combined with mechanical removal such as 
strimming 

 

 We will undertake a comparison between the effectiveness of foam 
vs steam. 
 

 We have developed a way of rating weed growth in a similar way as 
we do for litter and detritus 

 

 Weed growth and complaints are being mapped to develop smarter 
ways of treating 

 

 A photographic record is being kept understanding how treatment 
frequency may have to alter according to weather conditions and 
surface type  

 

 Serco are creating an app to record and weed growth 
 

 We’ve implemented improved reporting of tree (basal) shoots to the 
Arboriculture team 

 

 An Innovation challenge has been issued to contractors to come up 
with better means of treatment and equipment. 

 

 Regular four weekly meetings have been scheduled to examine 
results of the trails so we can inform our approach going forward 

 

 A fourth application will be considered to maintain momentum if 
mild weather continues later in the year. 

 

 If members receive complaints they should be sent to the cleaner 
greener mailbox so we can action. 

 

 We are investigating other approached for getting rid of woody 
plants such as the electric lance and chemical free alternatives to 
treating Japanese knotweed. 

 
 

4. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1. None 

Page 59



 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1. None 

 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
 6.1  No additional financial implications. 

 
7. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
7.1. None 

 
8. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
8.1. None 

 
9. IT IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. None 
 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
None 

Page 60



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
COMMUNITY SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT 
POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
5 September 2018 

 

 

DRAFT TRANSPORT LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (LIP3) 
 

Report of the Director of Resident Services 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Policy and Accountability Review and Comment 
Key Decision: Yes  
 

Consultation 
Equalities, Legal, Finance, Risk. 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Mahmood Siddiqi 
 

Report Author: Chris Bainbridge, 
Interim Chief Transport Planner 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 753 3354 
E-mail: chris.bainbridge@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Each borough council is required to produce a Local Implementation Plan 

(LIP3) which shows how they intend to implement the Mayor of London’s 
Transport Strategy (MTS3) in their borough. It focuses on a spending 
programme for the next three years which is awarded based on the LIP. 
Transport for London (TfL) have indicated that they will award LB 
Hammersmith and Fulham £1,498,200 in 2019/20, and indicated that the 
same amount is likely in 2020/21 and 2021/22, subject to the submission of a 
satisfactory LIP. This is a cut of £369,000 on the 2018/19 allocation (24%). 
The cut has been made in response to TfL’s financial situation and applies to 
all boroughs. This report gives details of the draft proposed LIP and ask 
members to comment on it for consideration for inclusion and amendments by 
Cabinet. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 To note the draft Local Implementation Plan (LIP). 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



2.2 To submit any comments or proposed amendments to the Cabinet Member 
for Environment and Residents’ services for consideration for inclusion in the 
consultation draft LIP to be submitted to TfL in November.  
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
3.1 The GLA Act 1999 requires all borough councils to produce a Local 

Implementation Plan (LIP3), which shows how they will implement the Mayor 
of London’s Transport Strategy (MTS3) in their area. The Mayor issued MTS3 
in March and TfL issued their LIP guidance to boroughs in April 2018. 
Boroughs are required to submit their consultation draft LIPs to Tfl by early 
November 2018 and issue the draft to the statutory consultees at the same 
time. The statutory consultees are, as well as TfL, the police, organisations 
representing disabled people which the council considers appropriate, and 
other boroughs which are likely to be affected by the plan. TfL will give 
feedback on the draft by 7th December 2018 and we are required to submit 
our LIP as amended as a result of the consultation by 16th February 2019. 
The Mayor aims to approve the LIP in March 2019. We propose therefore to 
submit the consultation draft LIP to Cabinet in November 2018. 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1 TfL require that a LIP must include borough objectives and explain how 
meeting these will contribute to achieving MTS3, the overarching mode share 
aim and each of the nine strategy outcomes. The mode share target for 
London is for 80% of journeys to be made by walking, cycling or public 
transport by 2041, compared with 63% in 2015.  

 
4.2 MTS3 has three priority areas:  

 Healthy streets for healthy people, including traffic reduction strategies 

 A good public transport experience 

 New homes and jobs. 
 

4.3 The nine outcomes of the MTS are: 

 London’s streets will be healthy and more Londoners will travel 
actively 

 London’s streets will be safe and secure 

 London’s streets will be used more efficiently and have less traffic on 
them 

 London’s streets will be clean and green 

 The public transport network will meet the needs of a growing London 

 Public transport will be safe, affordable and accessible to all 

 Journeys by public transport will be pleasant, fast and reliable 

 Active, efficient and sustainable travel will be the best option in new 
developments   

 Transport investment will unlock the delivery of new homes and jobs 
. 

4.4 The LIP must include a delivery plan which contains:  

 A list of potential schemes up to 2041. 

Page 62



 A detailed and costed programme of schemes and initiatives for the 
first year of the plan with supporting commentaries and risks 

 The impact on the borough of initiatives in the TfL business plan 

 Funding sources for all LIP initiatives, e.g. Section 106, CIL. 

 Targets against the overarching mode share aim, the nine 
outcomes and their indicators. 

 A commitment to monitor the delivery indicators. 
 

4.5 As well as meeting TfL’s requirements for compatibility with MTS3 and other 
Mayoral documents, notably the London Plan, it will need to be compatible 
with the council’s own strategic documents, i.e. the Local Plan, the H&F 
Vision and the HF Business Plan, and the administration’s manifesto, “The 
Change We Bring Together”. 

 
4.6 The Council’s own Transport objectives, adopted in our previous LIP (LIP2) in   

2011 are: 

 To support sustainable population and employment growth in the 
borough’s four regeneration areas and the OPDC area 

 To improve the efficiency of our road network 

 To improve the quality of our streets 

 To improve air quality in the borough 

 To make it easier for everyone to gain access to transport 
opportunities 

 To reduce the number of people injured or killed on our streets 
 
4.7 The elements of the administration’s manifesto, “the change we’ll bring 

together” to which the LIP is most relevant are: regeneration and 
infrastructure, working to be the greenest borough in Britain, the best possible 
opportunities for all our children and social inclusion. 

 
4.8 In general, the Mayor’s objectives and the Council’s objectives in the transport 

field are highly compatible and complementary. The areas in which disagree 
with or we wish to influence the Mayor and TfL are:  

 
i) The funding level for LIP projects should be restored to its 2018/9 level, 

and funding for principal road maintenance should be restored. TfL had 
initially allocated £400,000 for this in 2018/9 but subsequently withdrew 
it.  

ii) TfL should give priority to working with the council to develop the case 
for the Hammersmith Fly-under. 

iii) TfL should adopt a route for Crossrail 2 which includes an interchange 
station with the West London Line at Imperial Wharf, to facilitate 
regeneration in the south Fulham riverside area. 

iv) TfL should route Cycle Superhighway 9 (CS9) via the A4 corridor to 
avoid possible conflicts with pedestrians in King Street.   

 
 
 
 

Page 63



5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS 
 
5.1 The alternative option is not to prepare a LIP. In such cases the 1999 GLA Act 

empowers the Transport for London to prepare a LIP at the Council’s 
expense. This would mean that the council would have no control over the 
content of the LIP, and it would be financially disadvantageous to us. 
Therefore, this option is not recommended. 
  

6. CONSULTATION 
 
6.1. Boroughs are required to submit their consultation draft LIPs to TfL in 

November 2018 and issue the draft to the statutory consultees at the same 
time. The statutory consultees are, as well as TfL, the police, organisations 
representing disabled people which the council considers appropriate, and 
other boroughs which are likely to be affected by the plan. TfL will give 
feedback on the draft by 7th December 2018 and we are required to submit 
our LIP as amended as a result of the consultation by 16th February 2019. 
The Mayor will approve the LIP in March 2019. We propose therefore to 
submit the consultation draft LIP to Cabinet in November 2018. 

 
6.2. Comments from this PAC will be incorporated in the draft. We are also 

consulting members of the council’s Disability Commission on this draft. Given 
the tight timescale in preparing the LIP (some 3.5 months between the 
borough council elections and the need to comply with the timescales for 
submission to November cabinet), the main consultation will be on the draft 
LIP agreed by cabinet, which we will issue to the residents’ groups, business 
groups, environmental and transport interest groups, with an on-line 
consultation for the public. 

 
6.3. Following analysis of the results of the consultation, and comments from TfL, 

we will ask cabinet to delegate the decision to submit a revised final version to 
TfL, to meet their timescales.  

 
7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. A key objective of the LIP is to improve access to transport opportunities for 

everyone. The emphasis on improving the safety and comfort of walking and 
cycling routes, improving public transport and improving equality will 
particularly benefit groups with protected characterisitics, as defined by the 
Equality Act 2010. TfL requires an Equalities Impact Assessment to be 
produced for the LIP, and this is appended. 

 
7.2. Implications completed by: Peter Smith, Head of Policy & Strategy, tel. 020 

8753 2206. 
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
8.1. The preparation of a LIP is a statutory requirement under the GLA Act of 

1999. If a borough does not produce a LIP which meets the Mayor of 

Page 64



London’s requirements, TfL have the power to produce a LIP for the borough 
and charge the borough for its production. 

 
8.2. Where further consultation is to be carried out, as indicated in the report, 

either on an informal or statutory basis, it must follow public law principles in 
that it must be carried out at a formative stage of the decision-making 
process, last for a reasonable period, provide sufficient information for 
consultees to make an informed representation and all representations must 
be considered before any decision is made.   

 
8.3. The Council has the power to carry out works of improvement to the highway 

anticipated in the report under part V of the Highways Act 1980 although 
some works may require the council to follow a formal procedure, which may 
lead to a public inquiry. A number of the projects identified are exercisable 
pursuant to the council’s incidental powers as a highway authority under 
section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 and general powers of 
competence under section 1 of the Localism Act 2001. 

 
 
8.4. As road traffic authority the Council must exercise its functions as far as 

practicable to secure the expeditious, convenient, and safe movement of 
traffic (including pedestrians and the provision of suitable and adequate 
parking facilities. 
 

8.5. Implications completed by: Lynsey Le Masuries solicitor, tel 0207 361 2118  
  

 
 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. The preparation of the LIP is funded from TfL’s allocation to the borough for 

2018/9, at a cost of £50,000. The LIP is being prepared by the Council’s own 
officers, with the Strategic Environmental Assessment carried out by one of 
the Transport and Highway’s Divisions term contractors. 

 
9.2. Funding for Highways Capital and Revenue projects to the value of some £1.5 

million per year for each of the next three years (2019/20, 21/21 and 21/22 is 
dependent on the submission of a LIP approved by TfL. 

 
9.3. If the council fails to submit a LIP which TfL approve, TfL have reserve 

powers to produce the LIP itself and recharge the council the costs of doing 
so.  

 
9.4. When seeking Cabinet approval to submit the consultation draft LIP to TfL, we 

will seek the delegation of authority to approve the final version and to 
implement the projects in the 2019/20 programme to the cabinet member for 
Environment, Transport and Residents’ Services. 

 
9.5. At present the costs of each scheme referred to in the LIP are based on 

estimates. These are subject to change once the detail of each scheme has 

Page 65



been costed. The funding however is limited to the amount approved by TfL. 
Any variation in costs in excess of the amount approved cannot be assumed 
to be funded by TfL unless this is approved in advance. Alternatively, officers 
may need to manage the workload to ensure that expenditure is contained 
within the approved provision, or seek alternative sources of funding, such as 
Section 106 developer funding. 

  
9.6. Implications verified/completed by Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, 

telephone 0208 753 6071.  
 
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
10.1. By improving the efficiency and sustainability of the borough’s transport 

networks, and reducing their adverse environmental impacts, the LIP will 
benefit businesses in the borough. 

 
10.2. Matt Rumble, Head of Area Regeneration, tel 0208 753 4552 

 
11. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1. The LIP will be produced by the council’s own staff in the Transport and 

Highways Department. The implementation of projects in the LIP programme 
will be undertaken by staff in the Transport and Highways Division and the 
Highways term contractors.    

 
11.2. Chris Bainbridge, Interim Chief Transport Planner, tel 0208 753 3354 
 
12. IT IMPLICATIONS  
 
12.1. No IT implications are considered to arise from this report. 
 
12.2. Implications verified/completed by: Veronica Barella, interim Chief Information 

Officer, tel. 020 8753 2927. 
 
13. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
13.1. The Local Implementation Plan (LIP) is a statutory document prepared by 

each London borough to implement the Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy 
(MTS).  It sets out overarching borough transport objectives with an 
associated delivery and monitoring strategy and progress of the programmes, 
with reference to the Mayor’s priority areas. The plan and its programme are 
considered as a partnership risk on the Council’s Corporate Risk Register. A 
key aspect of the LIP is the borough’s role as a partner, working with 
Transport for London (TfL), residents, businesses and other local 
stakeholders to achieve a range of improvements to the transport network and 
transform the way that people travel. 

 
13.2. The report presents a general picture of compatibility to the Council’s Priorities 

however some risk remains where objectives with the Mayor of London are 
not aligned and are as referenced in 4.8 of this report. 

Page 66



  
13.3. The council and TfL approved transport plan deals with programme level risk 

management, in particular chapter three, the delivery plan. The table below 
details the capital programme risk and mitigation measures: 

 

Risk Mitigation Measure(s) 

Cost increase/budget 
reduction 

All designs developed to be flexible to allow 
amendments to reflect budget reductions 
whilst still maintaining the principles of LIP 
objectives 

Delay to schemes LIP funding to be allocated in consecutive 
years to allow more involved projects to run 
over 18 months rather than the traditional 12 
months. 

Policy compatibility To develop a bespoke policy compliance tool 
that all potential projects will be assessed 
against.  

Lack of resources to deliver To retain framework consultants to ensure 
resources are in place to deliver LIP objectives 

Conflicting consultation 
responses from TfL and 
other stakeholders 

Negotiations to achieve acceptable 
compromises and mitigations 

 
13.4. All integrated transport projects are managed through the divisional quality 

management system which incorporates all elements of project risk 
management and mitigation required for capital and revenue projects. 

 
13.5. Physical improvements to the public highway and programmes of work 

designed to reduce congestion, manage traffic and promote road safety fall 
under the council’s statutory duties under a variety of acts including the Traffic 
Management Act 2004, these works and other their associated statutory 
requirements therefore contribute positively to the management of risk 
number 8 managing statutory duty on the council’s strategic risk register.  

 
13.6.  Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Risk Manager. 0208 753 2587 
 
 
14. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 TfL LIP Guidance April 2018 
 

Chris Bainbridge 33454 HTHX 

(Delete box and write ‘none’ where no background papers were used) 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 Draft LIP 3 
Appendix 2 Equalities Impact Assessment 

Page 67



 

LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION 
PLAN 3 

 

  

Page 68



 

1 
 

FOREWORD 
 

The Council’s priorities for the next four years are: 

* Building Shared Prosperity; 

* Doing things with residents, not to them,  

* Taking pride in Hammersmith & Fulham 

* Creating a compassionate council and 

* Being ruthlessly financially efficient. 

We aim to make Hammersmith & Fulham the greenest borough in Britain. 

We support improvements for cyclists, including the Cycle Superhighways, but this mustn’t be at the expense of 

space for pedestrians. We’ll seek to put together a scheme that works with private investors and TfL to build the 

Hammersmith Flyunder. We’ll press Transport for London to bring back regular services to Olympia underground 

station and for more West London Line trains, and to make stations and trains more accessible, with improved 

facilities for pedestrians and cyclists. We’ll increase secure cycle parking on streets and estates. We introduced 

Britain’s first free-to-join electric car club and will further increase the number of electric car charging points in the 

borough. We aim to reduce car use by using planning conditions to encourage car free businesses, and we’ll promote 

and encourage more car-free developments, especially in the regeneration areas. We’ll support the provision of a 

pedestrian and cyclist bridge over the Thames at Sands End, near Imperial Wharf station. We’ll lobby for Crossrail 2 

to be routed via Imperial Wharf, with an Interchange station there with the West London Line, to facilitate 

sustainable development. We’ll continue to support communities who want to provide play streets with temporary 

road closures. We’ll continue our programme of traffic free markets in King Street, Hammersmith and North End 

Road, Fulham, and are submitting a “Liveable Neighbourhoods” bid for North End Road to reduce the amount and 

dominance of traffic and help the market and businesses to thrive, in line with Healthy Streets principles. 

We welcome the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and its emphasis on walking, cycling and public transport. Our 

consultation draft LIP3 builds on the work we’ve done on implementing 20mph speed limits on all the borough's 

residential roads and town centre main roads, and our work on improving air quality. We receive more and more 

requests from residents to reduce rat running through their streets, and our plans for area traffic management 

reviews, with “filtered permeability” will tackle these problems. We look forward to working in partnership with the 

Mayor and TfL in the coming years.  

 

 

Councillor Wesley Harcourt 

Cabinet Member for Environment and Residents’ Services  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



 

2 
 

CONTENTS 
Foreword ........................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Local Implementation Plan 3 (LIP3) 2019-2041 ................................................................................................................ 5 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Local Approval Process ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Consultation .............................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Hammersmith and Fulham Transport Objectives ............................................................................................................. 7 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Local Context ................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Population ................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Deprivation................................................................................................................................................................ 8 

Health ...................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Local Economy and Employment ............................................................................................................................ 11 

Housing ................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Town Centres and Local Centres ............................................................................................................................. 12 

Children and Young People ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

Environmental Sustainability .................................................................................................................................. 12 

Green and Open Space ........................................................................................................................................... 12 

River Thames and Canal .......................................................................................................................................... 12 

Historic Environment .............................................................................................................................................. 12 

Community and Leisure Facilities ........................................................................................................................... 13 

Changing the Transport Mix........................................................................................................................................ 13 

Challenges and Opportunities ................................................................................................................................. 13 

Modal Shift .............................................................................................................................................................. 16 

Borough’s Transport Objectives .............................................................................................................................. 18 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy Outcomes ....................................................................................................................... 18 

Outcome 1: London’s streets will be healthy and more Londoners will travel actively. ........................................ 18 

Outcome 2: London’s streets will be safe and secure ............................................................................................ 19 

Outcome 3: London’s streets will be used more efficiently and have less traffic on them ................................... 19 

Outcome 4: London’s streets will be clean and green ............................................................................................ 20 

Outcome 5: The public transport network will meet the needs of a growing London .......................................... 20 

Outcome 6: Public Transport will be safe, affordable and accessible to all ........................................................... 20 

Outcome 7: Journeys by public transport will be pleasant, fast and reliable ......................................................... 21 

Outcome 8: Active, efficient and sustainable travel will be the best option in new developments ...................... 21 

Outcome 9: Transport Investment will unlock the delivery of new homes and jobs ............................................. 21 

Other Mayoral Strategies ........................................................................................................................................ 22 

Linkages between LIP projects and programmes and the Mayor’s Transport Strategy outcomes ............................ 22 

Page 70



 

3 
 

Delivery Plan ................................................................................................................................................................... 24 

TfL Business Plan ......................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Elizabeth Line .......................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Healthy Streets Across London ............................................................................................................................... 24 

Cycle Superhighways ............................................................................................................................................... 24 

Liveable Neighbourhoods ....................................................................................................................................... 24 

A Safe, Secure Network ........................................................................................................................................... 25 

Tackling Traffic ........................................................................................................................................................ 25 

Improving Air Quality .............................................................................................................................................. 25 

A good public transport experience ........................................................................................................................ 25 

New Homes and Jobs .............................................................................................................................................. 25 

Potential Funding for LIP Delivery ............................................................................................................................... 26 

Long Term Interventions to 2041 ............................................................................................................................... 26 

Table— Long-term interventions up to 2041 ......................................................................................................... 27 

Three Year Indicative Programme of Investment ....................................................................................................... 29 

Supporting Commentary for the three year and annual programme ........................................................................ 30 

Cathnor Park and Adelaide Grove Area Traffic Management/Filtered Permeability ............................................. 30 

Sulgrave Road area traffic management and filtered permeability. ...................................................................... 30 

Brackenbury Area traffic management and filtered permeability ......................................................................... 30 

Du Cane Road Traffic Calming ................................................................................................................................. 30 

Margravine Gardens ............................................................................................................................................... 30 

Kelvedon Road Area Traffic Management/Filtered Permeability ........................................................................... 30 

New King’s Road area traffic management ............................................................................................................ 30 

Comprehensive neighbourhood traffic management and environmental review. ................................................ 30 

20mph speed limit .................................................................................................................................................. 31 

Small scale local interventions. ............................................................................................................................... 31 

Requests for Formal Pedestrian Crossings .............................................................................................................. 31 

Planned Maintenance Enhancements .................................................................................................................... 31 

Westtrans ................................................................................................................................................................ 31 

Smarter travel programme ..................................................................................................................................... 31 

School Travel Plan supporting measures ................................................................................................................ 31 

Cycle Parking ........................................................................................................................................................... 32 

Electric Vehicle Charging Points .............................................................................................................................. 32 

Air Quality Initiatives ............................................................................................................................................... 32 

Review of Streetsmart Design Guide ...................................................................................................................... 32 

Smart Cities ............................................................................................................................................................. 32 

Street Art ................................................................................................................................................................. 32 

Page 71



 

4 
 

River Art Walk feasibility study ............................................................................................................................... 32 

Completion of previous year’s projects .................................................................................................................. 32 

LIP Annual Spending Programme Preparation........................................................................................................ 33 

Schemes Not Funded through LIP Neighbourhoods and corridors ............................................................................ 33 

Principal roads maintenance: ................................................................................................................................. 33 

Roads 2010: ............................................................................................................................................................. 33 

Bridge Strengthening. ............................................................................................................................................. 33 

Borough Cycling Programme: ................................................................................................................................. 33 

Mayor’s Air Quality Fund ........................................................................................................................................ 34 

Bus Priorities ........................................................................................................................................................... 34 

Pedestrian and cycle subway under the West London Line ................................................................................... 34 

Risks to the delivery of the three year programme. ................................................................................................... 34 

Annual Programme of Schemes and Initiatives ...................................................................................................... 34 

Risk Assessment for the annual programme .......................................................................................................... 35 

Monitoring the Delivery of the Outcomes of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy .......................................................... 35 

Overarching mode-share aim and outcome indicators .......................................................................................... 35 

 

Page 72



 

5 
 

LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 3 (LIP3) 2019-2041 

INTRODUCTION 

The Local Implementation Plan (LIP) is a statutory document prepared under Section 145 of the GLA Act and sets out 

how the borough proposes to deliver the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) in its area, as well as contributing to 

other local and sub-regional goals. It has been developed in accordance with the Revised Guidance for Borough 

Officers on Developing the Third Local Implementation Plan (LIP3).  

This document is the third LIP for the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (LBHF). It covers the same period 

as the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS 3 - published in March 2018) and it also takes account of the transport 

related elements of Council’s Business Plan 2018/22 (published in May 2018), the draft London Plan, LBHF’s Local 

Plan (published in February 2018) and other relevant Mayoral and local policies.  The document sets out long term 

goals and transport objectives for the London borough of Hammersmith & Fulham for the next 20 years, a three-year 

programme of investment starting in 2019/20, and includes delivery proposals for the period 2019/20-2021/22 and 

the targets and outcomes the council is seeking to achieve. A more detailed delivery plan is provided for the financial 

year 2019/20.  

This LIP identifies how LBHF will work towards achieving the MTS goals of: 

o Healthy Streets and healthy people 

o A good public transport experience 

o New homes and jobs. 

The Council notes that the overarching aim of the strategy is for 80% of all trips in London to be made on foot, by 

cycle, or using public transport by 2041 compared to 63 per cent today. In 2014 the sustainable mode share for LBHF 

was 81% and the trajectory for 2021 is 82% and 89% for 2041. (Source TfL LIPs outcomes package, March 2018.) 

There are different targets for central, inner (which includes LBHF) and outer London. This LIP identifies how LBHF 

will set local priorities and targets to assist with achieving this aim. 

This document also outlines how the Council will work with TfL to assist with delivering the outcomes, policies, and 

proposals of MTS3. 

LOCAL APPROVAL PROCESS 

This draft LIP is to be submitted for approval to the Council’s cabinet as a key decision on 5th November 2018 

Consultation 

The Council is undertaking statutory consultation on this draft LIP in accordance with the GLA Act 1999, i.e. with:  

o The Commissioner of Police for the Metropolis 

o TfL 

o Hammersmith and Fulham Action on Disability, the organisation which represents disabled people in the 

borough. 

o Neighbouring boroughs: The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and the London Boroughs of Brent, 

Ealing, Hounslow, Richmond -upon-Thames and Wandsworth.  

o Any other body or person which the Mayor may direct us to consult.  

 

Page 73



 

6 
 

Our major consultation exercise will be undertaken on this draft LIP between November 2018 and February 2019, 

and the results will appear on the council’s website. As well as the bodies named above, residents groups, 

environment groups, transport groups, and business groups will be consulted and there will be an online 

consultation to which the general public can respond. 

We have undertaken preliminary consultation on the LIP with members of the Council’s Disability Commission in 

August and September and presented it to the Council’s Community Safety and Environment Policy and 

Accountability Committee on 5th September 2017. Their comments have been considered in preparing this draft.   

  

Page 74



 

7 
 

HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM TRANSPORT OBJECTIVES  

INTRODUCTION 

This chapter sets out the local policy context for the third round of LIPs. It covers the borough’s detailed 

interpretation at a spatial level of MTS 3 and the local policies and proposals which will help deliver MTS3.The 

chapter also considers the link between the LIP and other key frameworks against which the borough plans and 

delivers local services. 

Hammersmith & Fulham has a distinguished record of delivering sustainable transport projects. We introduced some 

of the first segregated cycle tracks in London, in King Street and Crisp Road, Hammersmith and have over 50 cycle 

gaps in road closures, now known as “filtered permeability”. We secured the provision of three new stations on the 

West London Line, at West Brompton, Shepherd’s Bush, and Imperial Wharf and one on the Hammersmith and City 

line at Wood Lane. A new bus station and a new bus/rail interchange were introduced as part of the Westfield 

development, where the target was 63% of journeys to be by sustainable modes. People said that couldn’t be done, 

that the car would be the main means of getting to these developments. In fact, we exceeded the target and some 

80% of journeys are by public transport. We started our programme of 20mph zones some 20 years ago, covering a 

third of the borough, and in 2016 introduced a 20mph limit on the rest of the borough’s residential roads and main 

roads in town centres. We’re now backing the limit up with physical measures to improve compliance. We pioneered 

the PTAL method of measuring public transport accessibility, to help decide the best locations for development and 

determine where improvements are needed. The method has now been adopted by TfL and the GLA. In the last year 

we have installed 130 electric vehicle charging points and will be putting in another 70 on lamp columns this year. 

We have implemented the first phase of the Hammersmith Grove low/zero emission zone, providing very popular 

on-street parklets. Our parking policies favour electric and low emission vehicles and discourage commuting and 

short distance journeys by car. The success of our policies is evidenced by the fact that we have already met the 

Mayor’s London wide target of 80% of journeys to be by sustainable modes. 

 

But there is no room for complacency. We still suffer from poor air quality and congestion, and population and 

employment growth will add to the pressure on our transport networks. This LIP shows how we intend, with TfL and 

other partners and stakeholders, to tackle these issues. 

 

The LIP firmly demonstrates that it is informed by evidence and analysis of local needs and issues and that it is 

shaped by the wider context of the MTS vision, MTS Healthy Streets Approach and the MTS policies, proposals, and 

outcomes. 

LOCAL CONTEXT 

Hammersmith and Fulham are an inner London Borough in a strategic location between central London and 

Heathrow. The borough is oriented north-south with most major road and rail links carrying through traffic east-west 

across the borough. Some of the busiest road junctions in London are in the borough, at Hammersmith Broadway, 

Shepherd’s Bush and Savoy Circus, and the borough suffers disproportionately from the effects of through traffic. 

However, north-south transport links are limited. The borough benefits from a long frontage to the River Thames 

(7km/4.5 miles) and from a section of the Grand Union Canal in the north of the borough which lies within the 

boundary of the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC). These waterways enhance the 

environment and character of the borough and provide the potential for further benefits. 

Hammersmith & Fulham is an area of contrasts, of wealth and deprivation, of attractive environments, many of 

which are protected by conservation designations, and other areas that are less attractive and need improvement. It 

Page 75



 

8 
 

has at least four distinctive areas each with their own character – Fulham, Hammersmith, Shepherd’s Bush, and the 

area to the north of Wormwood Scrubs. There are four designated regeneration areas which overlap these areas and 

which will transform much of the borough in the years ahead as new housing, employment and social infrastructure 

is built.  

The four regeneration areas – White City, Hammersmith Town Centre, Earl’s Court and West Kensington and South 

Fulham Riverside offer tremendous opportunities for growth on terms of new mixed tenure private and social 

housing and jobs, as well as provision of supporting infrastructure. The areas are at different stages of development 

and will require careful management over the next 20 years. Plans for Earls Court and West Kensington, as well as 

the White City regeneration area are well advanced. In all cases it will be important for new development to meet 

local needs and to integrate seamlessly with the rest of the borough and west London. A fifth area is that covered by 

Old Oak Common, Hythe Road and Wormwood Scrubs. Until the establishment of the Old Oak and Park Royal 

Development Corporation (OPDC) in April 2015, this area fell within Hammersmith and Fulham council’s local 

authority planning functions. The council is still the highway and traffic authority for the public highways in the area, 

which is currently characterised by large areas of industrial land and railway infrastructure, including the Crossrail 

depot, the Great Western Inter City Express depot, and the proposed High Speed 2/Crossrail/Great Western 

interchange station. Wormwood Scrubs is a large area of Metropolitan Open Land. 

Population 

The population of Hammersmith and Fulham has risen by over 10% from 165,242 in 2001 to 182,500 in 2011. The 

GLA’s 2015 projection estimates the population too be 186,800. The population of the borough is relatively young 

and ethnically diverse. It is also a highly mobile population with about half the households having moved in the 

previous five years. Nearly half the population (45%) is between the ages of 20 and 40, which is higher than in 

London (32%) and the rest of the country (27%). The borough has the fourth highest proportion of single people 

(55.9%) in London. 29% of households consist of one person (2011 census). 

According to the 2015 GLA population projections, the borough’s population is expected to increase by 11,895 

people (6.7%) between 2011 and 2021. This compares to a 9.1% increase in London. The projected increase between 

2021 and 2031 is 8.2%, similar to the London average of 8.3%. The main growth will occur in people aged 85 or over. 

The population in that age group is expected to increase by 2,620 (11% by 2031.The population aged 65 to 84 is 

expected to grow by 30%. The number of one-person households will grow by 32% up to 2026 while the number of 

“couple” households will decrease by nearly 8%. 

Deprivation 

Levels of deprivation in the borough are decreasing. According to the 2015 Indices of Deprivation, it is ranked 76th 

most deprived local authority in the country, compared with 31st in 2010 and 38th in 20). However, there are still 

significant pockets of deprivation, particularly in the north of the borough. Eight (7%) of the borough’s Lower Super 

Output Areas (LSOAs are used by the Office of National Statistics) to identify local neighbourhoods of about 700 

households) are within the top 10 most deprived nationally. These areas comprise major public-sector housing 

estates: Clem Attlee, Edward Woods, White City, Wormholt, Charecroft and Ashcroft Square. A further 15% are in 

the 10-20% worst nationally. Most of these areas are in the north of the borough, but they also extend into parts of 

Hammersmith and North Fulham (see Map 1). 

Hammersmith and Fulham not only has high levels of deprivation, it is polarised socially and economically. In the last 

census 41.6% of household heads classified themselves as managers or professionals, while more than a quarter said 

they were entirely dependent on benefits. 

Until the 1970s, social housing and council estates tended to be occupied by households with a greater mix of 

incomes than is now the case. The mix of social housing tenants has come to include proportionately more people 

on lower incomes, some experiencing multiple deprivation. Approximately 53% of households in social housing are 

currently workless and dependent on out-of-work benefits and they make up the largest single group within the 

Page 76



 

9 
 

estimated 13,150 workless households in the borough. Nearly 2,000 lone parents are dependent on out-of-work 

benefits and a further 2,800 are claiming Working Tax Credit and/or Child Tax Credit benefits. 

Deprivation and low household incomes also impact on health inequalities and result in high levels of child poverty. 

About 20% of children live in poverty in the borough compared to the national level of 30%. Child poverty is 

concentrated in the north of the borough, with 35% and 53% in the two northernmost wards. In 2012, 7490 children 

under the age of 16 were living in families receiving means tested benefits. In 2013 over 30% of primary school 

children and 24% of secondary school children were entitled to free school meals compared to the respective 

national figures of 15% and 12%.  

Page 77



 

10 
  

Page 78



 

11 
 

Health 

Life expectancy for men in Hammersmith & Fulham is 79.7 years and for women it is 84.1 years. The difference in life 

expectancy between affluent and deprived areas in the borough is 7.9 years in men and 5.4 in women. To improve 

the health of borough residents it is important that they have good access to the appropriate facilities, including high 

quality specialist and emergency health care services. As part of a strategy to improve the health of the local 

community, residents and workers should be enabled to have healthier lifestyles. Tackling overcrowding and poor 

housing, improving air quality, reducing the impact of climate change, improving access to parks and open spaces, 

controls on hot food takeways and providing opportunities to walk and cycle can all help to reduce health 

inequalities in the borough. 

Local Economy and Employment 

Hammersmith & Fulham has a very successful and diverse economy and it makes a significant contribution to the 

economies of London and the UK, with its concentration of business, retail and tourism uses.  

The borough occupies a favourable location in west London and is attractive to a variety of businesses, including 

foreign owned ones. It has enjoyed significant growth in employment and economic activity over the last three 

decades with the central Hammersmith area becoming an important sub-regional location for offices. The local 

economy is the 6th most competitive in the country, with an estimated Gross Value Added of £8.1bn. There is also a 

strong visitor economy with 1.25 million visitors each week to our town centres. Westfield London alone attracts 

some 600,000 visitors each week. 

The borough has developed as a centre for a range of creative and media industries, due partly to the historic 

presence of the BBC at White City but also to good public transport links. The largest employers in the borough 

include L’Oréal, Hammersmith and Charing Cross Hospitals, the Metropolitan Police, Mref Tradeco, Omni Facilities 

Management and Walt Disney. In recent decades there has been a significant decline in traditional manufacturing 

and increases in retail and leisure activities as well as emerging markets such as knowledge based industries and life 

sciences. Over £2 billion of public and private sector funding has been invested over the last five years by developers 

such as Imperial College, who are building a large life sciences campus at White City.  

The council is sensitive to the needs of businesses in the borough, including small local firms. The challenge is to 

build upon success in delivering workspace for small and medium enterprises and new start-ups. The areas that are 

most appropriate for growth are those with high levels pf public transport accessibility. In particular, new flexible 

business space in the vicinity of transport nodes provides a useful means of stimulating business growth. 

Housing 

The very high cost of private sector housing in the borough makes it difficult for households on low to middle 

incomes to access suitable housing that they can afford. Many households cannot get suitable housing in either the 

private or social housing sectors and have to move out of the borough when they no longer want to share with 

others or need a larger house. This lack of affordable homes to rent or buy for low or middle-income households is a 

key challenge for the council. There are also limited desirable housing options for older people in the borough.  

Social rented housing comprises 31% of the borough’s housing stock compared with the London average of 24%. 

Over 40% of housing in the north of the borough is social rented. Shared ownership and other intermediate low-cost 

housing only makes up 1.6% of the borough’s stock. 

Our housing challenges are overcrowding, the ageing stock which is becoming increasingly expensive to maintain, 

difficulty in adopting housing to provide wheelchair access, newer housing being smaller units, leading to 

overcrowding, and the fuel and energy inefficiency of the stock.  

Page 79



 

12 
 

Town Centres and Local Centres 

The main challenge for the town centres – Hammersmith, Shepherd’s Bush, and Fulham – is the need for their 

continued regeneration and better use of sites. It will be important to ensure the continued provision of a wide 

range of high quality retailing, services, arts, cultural and other leisure facilities including those that contribute to a 

vibrant night time economy to serve local residents, visitors, and workers. 

There have been public realm improvements in all three town centres and others are planned, and there is a need 

for regeneration to respect local context as well as provide for further improvements to increase the vitality and 

quality of each centre.  

Children and Young People 

The projected increase in population will result in a need to provide additional secondary school places by 2019-20 

and additional primary school places after 2023. 

Many of the schools in the borough are built on sites with limited outdoor space and therefore it is important to 

improve access to and provision of sports facilities in order to improve health and to reduce child obesity levels. This 

consideration also adds to the need to encourage active travel to schools. There is also a general deficiency of 

playgrounds in the north and south of the borough.  

Environmental Sustainability 

Carbon dioxide emissions need to be reduced through a range of measures that reduce energy consumption, 

decarbonise the energy supply and help move towards low/zero carbon emissions, i.e. walking, cycling and public 

transport. Climate change is expected to lead to more frequent extreme weather events, with warmer, wetter 

winters and hotter, drier summers. Much of the borough is subject to some risk of flooding, including from surface 

water run-off and sewer discharge during intense storms. Sustainable Urban Drainage schemes (SUDS) will be an 

important part of highway and public realm projects. A further serious challenge is that of air quality. The whole of 

the borough is an Air Quality Management Area for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10). 

Green and Open Space 

The borough has some fine parks which have been awarded green flag status and has a section of the Thames which 

is a major linear open space. However, some parts of the borough, particularly in the east, do not have convenient 

access to local parks. Parks and open spaces fulfil a number of different and sometimes potentially conflicting roles, 

including providing opportunities for walking, leisurely cycling, sitting, active play and quiet recreation. The borough 

only has 14% of the standard amount of outdoor playing space recommended by the National Playing Fields 

Association. As well as providing appropriate amenity space in new developments, we should enhance walking and 

cycling access to such spaces in neighbouring boroughs. 

River Thames and Canal 

The River Thames is a major asset in the environmental quality and historic character of the borough. There are 

vacant and underused riverside premises which have potential for more intensive use. Any development of these 

sites will need to enhance the vitality of the riverfront while improving access to the Thames for recreation and 

sporting activities. 

The stretch of the Grand Union Canal in the borough is in the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation. The 

canal will play a major role in providing recreation, open space and walking and cycling for the development in the 

area which will be stimulated by the HS2 and Crossrail station.  

Historic Environment 

Most of the borough’s built fabric dates from the extensive building programmes of the nineteenth and early 

twentieth centuries, and it has maintained a much-valued built heritage, much of which falls in the borough’s 45 

Page 80



 

13 
 

designated conservation areas. In many of these areas, the street provides a sense of scale and the setting for 

consistent terraces of uniform architectural design. The town centres of Hammersmith, Fulham and Shepherds Bush 

have developed from the earliest patterns of settlement at accessible locations, an advantage that remains today. 

Their architectural and historic quality is reflected in their Conservation Area designations.  

There are also areas of the borough of poor environmental quality. Many of these are in regeneration areas, and the 

provision of green infrastructure, including high quality walking and cycling routes, as part of regeneration schemes 

can help to improve the quality of the local environment. 

Community and Leisure Facilities 

As part of the development of area based social regeneration, the council is assessing whether there is the 

opportunity to improve the quality and access to community uses by the co-location of services. Accessible 

recreation facilities are very important to local residents and workers, not only for enjoyment but because of their 

contribution to improving health, particularly of children. Recreation facilities can also provide diversionary activities 

and help reduce anti-social behaviour and crime.  

The borough has a wide range of arts, cultural and entertainment facilities, some of which are of London wide 

significance, such as the Apollo, Lyric Theatre, Bush Theatre and the three professional football clubs. However, such 

facilities can lead to concerns over crime and disorder, traffic and car parking and public transport overcrowding if 

not properly managed.   

CHANGING THE TRANSPORT MIX 

Challenges and Opportunities 

The strategic location of the borough and its position in relation to London’s transport network means that it suffers 

from some of the worst road congestion in London. Congestion is particularly acute on the limited number of north-

south routes in the borough, particularly the Fulham Palace Road-Shepherds Bush-Wood Lane-Scrubs Lane corridor.  

Road traffic is one of the main causes of carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions, poor air quality and noise pollution in the 

borough. Nearly one sixth of CO2 emissions in 2011 was from road transport and traffic emissions contribute to the 

exceedance of Air quality targets. In 2000 the whole borough was designated an Air Quality Management Area and 

an action plan was adopted with the aim of meeting the government’s national objectives for nitrogen dioxide and 

particulates. Exposure to high levels of these particulates has been shown to cause respiratory and cardiovascular 

diseases. The other main cause of noise pollution, and to a lesser extent air pollution, is air traffic, the flightpaths 

into Heathrow and its associated road traffic. Any further expansion of Heathrow could adversely impact borough 

residents through increased surface transport congestion, as well as increased noise and air pollution.  

As an inner London borough, H&F is relatively well served by public transport, as is shown by the PTAL map below. 

However, there are pockets in the north and south of the borough that are still poorly served by bus or rail and have 

low PTAL levels of 1 or 2.  

The borough is well served by the London Underground network with the Piccadilly, District, Central, Hammersmith 

and City and Circle Lines connecting the borough with central, west, and south west London. The Bakerloo Line 

serves the northern tip of the borough at Willesden Junction. The Circle Line was extended to Hammersmith in late 

2009, which almost doubled the service frequency on the Hammersmith and City tracks and a new station was 

opened at Wood Lane in association with the Westfield development in 2008. Services have been improved on the 

District Line, with new, longer trains and increased frequency on the Wimbledon branch, which was the more 

overcrowded section of line in west and south west London. However, the 20-minute frequency weekday service to 

Kensington Olympia was withdrawn in 2011. 

The only national/Overground rail route in the borough is the West London Line, which runs along the borough’s 

eastern boundary.  Local services were reintroduced in the early 1990s after a 50-year gap and services have been  

Page 81



 

14 
 

 

enhanced since TfL took over the franchise for the local service in 2007 and branded it London Overground. There is 

now a train every 15 minutes throughout the day and Govia (formerly Southern) operate a usually hourly service 

between Croydon and Milton Keynes, with some additional trains in the peaks. The council with developer partners, 

the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and TfL has successfully secured the opening of new stations at West 

Brompton (1999), Shepherds Bush (2008) and Imperial Wharf (2009). 

Page 82



 

15 
 

 

 

The borough’s residents are highly dependent on the Underground, with 36% of residents using it to travel to work.  

The borough has a reasonably comprehensive network of bus routes which have, for the most part, improved in 

quality, frequency, accessibility, and reliability since the advent of TfL and the systematic introduction of bus priority 

measures, notably as bus lanes and their enforcement by cameras. However, buses are still subject to low speeds 

and unreliability, largely as a result of traffic congestion.  

Two major TLRN (Transport for London road Network) routes run through the borough: the A40(M) Westway in the 

north, which carries traffic between central London and Hillingdon and becomes the M40 through Buckinghamshire 

and Oxfordshire to Birmingham and the A4 which connects central London to Heathrow. And becomes the M4 

through the Thames Valley to Bristol, the west of England and south Wales. 

A short stretch of the former M41 motorway which connects the A40(M) with Shepherd’s Bush via the Holland Park 

roundabout has now been downgraded to become the A3220 but is still part of the TLRN. North-south roads in the 

Page 83



 

16 
 

borough are limited to only one route (Putney Bridge-Fulham Palace Road-Hammersmith-Shepherd’s Bush Road-

Wood Lane-Scrubs Lane) running the whole length of the borough. Hammersmith and Fulham’s roads are among the 

most congested in London. The Map 2 shows the borough’s road network including the TLRN in red and the Strategic 

Road Network (SRN) in green. 

The borough’s transport infrastructure has changed relatively little since its major development in the second half of 

the 19th century. The most significant changes during the second half of the twentieth century were: 

o The construction of two major new roads, the A4 dual carriageway including the Hammersmith flyover, and 

the A40 (M) Westway, both of which facilitated traffic growth.  

o The closure of some local rail passenger services such as Olympia-Edgware Road 

o The extension of the Central line from Shepherd’s Bush to Ealing and West Ruislip 

o The extension of the Piccadilly Line from Hammersmith to Acton, Uxbridge, Hounslow, and Heathrow 

Airport. 

o The withdrawal of all tram and trolleybus services 

o A steep decline in the use of the river Thames for freight and passenger services 

o The rapid expansion of Heathrow Airport to become one of the world’s busiest airports and the consequent 

increase in road traffic and the use of public transport in the borough.  

In contrast to the relative stability of the infrastructure, the demands placed on it have continued to change and 

increase. These increasing demands are attributable to three main causes: 

o An overall increase in personal prosperity which has resulted in an increase in demand for travel, more cars 
being used and more goods being transported and consumed 

o The increasing centralisation of facilities and services, resulting in many people having to travel further to 

satisfy their basic needs for employment, education, shopping, hospitals, entertainment and recreation 

o Population and employment growth.   

Modal Shift 

The overarching aim of MTS3 is for 80% of trips Londonwide to be made by active, efficient, and sustainable modes 

by 2041, compared with 63% in 2016. TfL’s figures show that currently 81% of journeys in the borough are made by 

sustainable modes, and the trajectory is for 82% by 2012 and 89% by 2041. 

The means by which we aim to achieve this are: 

 

Page 84



 

17 
 

 

 

o Using planning conditions to encourage car free by specifying restraint-based parking standards 

o Promoting and encouraging more car free developments 

o Increasing secure cycle parking on streets and estates. 

Page 85



 

18 
 

o Supporting the development of safer and more convenient cycle routes, provided that this does not involve 

reducing space for pedestrians. 

o Supporting a new pedestrian and cyclist river crossing at Imperial Wharf to enhance sustainable transport 

linkages in the south of the borough 

o Campaigning for a Crossrail 2 station in the borough at Imperial Wharf to enhance the transport linkages in 

the south of the borough. 

o Seeking to gain an increase in trains on the West London Overground line to improve transport links in the 

borough.  

o Expanding the opportunities for electric car clubs in the borough. 

Borough’s Transport Objectives 

Transport is rarely an end in itself but is a key factor in the Council’s aims of  

o Promoting a strong and growing economy, with the emphasis on sustainable and good growth 

o Reducing inequalities and ensuring that all sections of the community have good access to the things they 

need to lead a fulfilled life 

o Promoting the health and wellbeing of residents 

o Improving air quality and minimising the adverse effects transport systems have on the environment.  

This means emphasising the sustainable transport modes – walking, cycling and public transport as these are the 

modes that are accessible to most sections of the community, make the most efficient use of our very limited 

roadspace and cause least damage to the environment. Personal motor vehicles will continue to be convenient and 

necessary for many journeys, and for freight deliveries, and our aim is for as many of these journeys as possible to be 

made by electric or other low or zero tailpipe emission vehicles.   

More specifically, our transport objectives are:  

1. To support sustainable population and employment growth in the borough’s four regeneration areas and 

the OPDC area in the borough. 

2.  To improve the efficiency of our road network 

3. To improve the quality of our streets 

4. To improve air quality in the borough 

5. To make it easier for everyone to gain access to transport opportunities 

6. To support residents and businesses by controlling parking fairly 

7. To reduce the numbers of people killed and injured on our streets 

MAYOR’S TRANSPORT STRATEGY OUTCOMES 

Outcome 1: London’s streets will be healthy and more Londoners will travel actively. 

Challenges and Opportunities  
Most of the borough’s streets were developed in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries and were not 

designed to deal with the numbers of motor vehicles which use them today. Only a small percentage of the 

properties have off -street parking, and this can result in a great deal of parking stress (excess of demand over supply 

There are many demands placed on our streets – pedestrians, cyclists, buses, private cars, delivery vehicles, both 

passing through and for access to shops and homes on the street, which can often come into conflict with each 

other. The first principle is to favour those modes which use up the least roadspace per journey – walking, cycling 

and public transport. The policies pursued by the council, TfL, and other boroughs in the 21st century have been 

successful in this respect. According to the national census, 46% of the borough’s households owned one or more 

cars in 2011, compared with 51% in 2001. These policies include improving public transport, improving road safety 

and conditions for pedestrians and cyclists, restricting parking in new developments and controlling on street 

Page 86



 

19 
 

parking to discourage commuting by car and short intra-borough car journeys, providing car club bays, including 

electric car club bays, and providing cycle parking. Notwithstanding the success of these policies, we still suffer from 

poor air quality and high levels of traffic congestion. We must therefore continue to develop and implement these 

policies. We strongly welcome the Healthy Streets approach which TfL has developed, and while it will be difficult to 

meet all the criteria on some of the borough’s residential streets, the regeneration areas can enable us to start from 

scratch and design new areas with minimal car dependency, with zero or very low car parking, good quality walking 

and cycle routes and good quality public transport.  In particular we will continue to lobby for Crossrail 2 to be 

routed via the Sands End area of Fulham with an interchange with the Overground station at Imperial Wharf.     

Borough Objectives:  
3. To improve the quality of our streets 

6: To support residents by controlling parking fairly 

Outcome 2: London’s streets will be safe and secure 

Challenges and Opportunities  
In 2016 the Council introduce a 20mph speed limit in all the residential streets in the borough and the main roads in 

the town centres. Our approach since then has been to monitor compliance with the new limit and introduce speed 

reducing measures, such as sinusoidal humps, where problems of non-compliance are greatest. The lower speed 

limit will not only reduce the risk and severity of collisions, but will also encourage walking and cycling by making the 

street environment more comfortable and convivial. 

We will continue to enhance our road safety and travel awareness activity, including education and training of child 

pedestrians, providing cycle training for children and adults, and for motorcyclists, and our mutual awareness 

campaigns for cyclists and lorry drivers. 

We will expand our programme of providing secure on-street cycle parking (bikehangars) and cycle hubs at transport 

interchanges.   

Fear of crime is also a deterrent to walking, and so the Council’s crime reduction strategy will contribute to 

increasing safety and security on the streets. Key features of this are:  

o Investing more in crime prevention 

o Working with the third sector and community to tackle knife crime and gang and youth violence 

o Working with the police to stop moped crime and drug dealing 

o Better processes to support residents who have to put up with anti-social behaviour and drug dealing in 

their neighbourhood. 

o Continued investment in CCTV. 

o Enforce and protect the victims of abuse, including female genital mutilation. 

o Tackling hate crime wherever it appears.  

o Ensuring that stop and search is targeted effectively.  

Borough objectives:  
3. To improve the quality of our streets;  

7. To reduce the numbers of people killed and injured on our streets.  

Outcome 3: London’s streets will be used more efficiently and have less traffic on them 

Challenges and Opportunities  
At busy times and in busy places, individual car use is a very inefficient use of roadspace. TfL’s Roads Taskforce 

calculated that a car driver used up 13 times as much space as a bus passenger in central London in the peaks, and 

we would expect the situation in Hammersmith & Fulham to be similar. The proportion of households which own 

cars, and the proportion of journeys made by car has declined in the borough since the beginning of the 21st 

Page 87



 

20 
 

century, in common with London as a whole. However, population and employment growth means that pressure on 

our roadspace continues to grow.  In regeneration areas such as Old Oak and Park Royal, and Earl’s Court, we have 

the opportunity to start with a “clean sheet” and build in advantages for sustainable travel from the beginning. Much 

of the growth in traffic in recent years has consisted of delivery vehicles (“white vans”) and hire cars. We will work 

with businesses, partner boroughs and TfL to reduce the impact of freight vehicles (e.g. through the establishment of 

“last mile” delivery services using electric and zero-emission vehicles) and to control the growth of hire vehicles and 

the routes they take. Our Business Plan, based on the administration’s 2018 manifesto, states that we will use 

planning conditions to encourage car free businesses, we will promote and encourage more car free major new 

developments and will promote more electric car clubs 

Borough objectives:  
1. To support sustainable population and employment growth in the borough’s four regeneration areas and the OPDC 

area in the borough  

2. to improve the efficiency of our road network 

Outcome 4: London’s streets will be clean and green 

Challenges and Opportunities  
We aim to be the greenest borough in the country. We’ve introduced 140 electric car charging points and planted 

2722 trees in 2017/8. We’re aiming to make our new council buildings carbon neutral. We will invest in more and 

better street cleaning. We will take enforcement action to stop drivers idling and measures to reduce traffic and 

support the use of sustainable modes, as in Outcome 3 above. 

Borough objectives:  

3. To improve the quality of our streets 

Outcome 5: The public transport network will meet the needs of a growing London 

Challenges and Opportunities  
The council does not provide public transport services directly but we aim to provide safe, accessible, and 

convenient walking and cycling routes to rail stations and bus stops, and to improve the efficiency of the road 

network which the buses use by reducing general traffic and managing roadworks effectively. We will continue to 

campaign for a Crossrail 2 station in the borough at Imperial Wharf and will seek to gain an increase in trains on the 

West London Overground line to improve north-south links in the borough. We therefore welcome TfL’s plans to 

increase  the service frequency on this line as stated in their business plan. We will work with developers, TfL and, in 

the Old Oak area, the OPDC to ensure that new developments are well served by bus services, and have good 

walking and cycle routes to rail stations before the developments are occupied.  

Borough objectives:  

3. To improve the quality of our streets 

4. To improve air quality in the borough  

5. To make it easier for everyone to gain access to transport opportunities 

Outcome 6: Public Transport will be safe, affordable, and accessible to all 

Challenges and Opportunities  
TfL have made all bus services accessible in the last ten years, which is a most welcome development. However, 

there are sometimes conflicting demands for the available space, e.g. between wheelchair users and people with 

child buggies. The Council’s role is to ensure that parking at and on the approaches to bus stops is effectively 

controlled so that buses can pull right in to the kerb. We also aim to ensure that the street environment is accessible 

and safe (see above) so that people can reach bus stops and stations. Of the borough’s Overground and 

Page 88



 

21 
 

Underground stations, only Hammersmith (all lines), Fulham Broadway, Wood Lane, Willesden Junction, Shepherd’s 

Bush Overground, and Imperial Wharf have full step free access. Kensington Olympia has level access to each 

platform, but the level access route between the platforms is very long (about half a mile). West Brompton has lift 

access to the Overground platforms and the northbound Underground platform but not to the southbound 

Underground. We will lobby and support TfL in increasing the number of stations with step free access, with priority 

for White City, which would be relatively inexpensive, and has high levels of development planned, West Kensington 

and Putney Bridge.      

Borough objectives:  
5. To make it easier for everyone to gain access to transport opportunities 

Outcome 7: Journeys by public transport will be pleasant, fast, and reliable 

Challenges and Opportunities  
Buses are subject to traffic delays and congestion. We currently have some 9 kilometres of bus lane in the borough 

and we use camera enforcement on several of them. It would be difficult to expand them substantially without 

conflicting with the needs of business and residential frontages for loading and parking, though we will review the 

hours of operation to ensure they work at the times of greatest need. Our promotion of walking, cycling and public 

transport use, and limiting car parking in new developments will reduce traffic and release road space to enable 

buses to operate more speedily and more reliability. We will use Section 106 and CIL funds to secure improvements 

to bus and rail infrastructure, in co-operation with TfL and the operators.   

Borough objectives:  

5. To make it easier for everyone to gain access to transport opportunities. 

Outcome 8: Active, efficient, and sustainable travel will be the best option in new 
developments 

Challenges and Opportunities  
New development can give us the opportunity to build in measures to favour active, efficient, and sustainable 

transport from the beginning. This will be easier to achieve in large development areas on brownfield sites - Old Oak, 

White City, Earl’s Co South Fulham and the OPDC area than with piecemeal development in established areas. Good 

cycling and walking routes, travel plans, improved bus services, secure and convenient cycle parking are all part of 

the solution. In some places, new rail stations or lines will be appropriate. An example is in White City, where we are 

working with Imperial College and Network Rail to provide a pedestrian/cycle subway under the West London Line 

and A3220 to give a convenient link between the developments in LBHF and residential areas in RBKC.    

Borough objectives:  
1. To support sustainable population and employment growth in the borough’s four regeneration areas and the OPDC 

area in the borough. 

Outcome 9: Transport Investment will unlock the delivery of new homes and jobs 

Challenges and Opportunities  
The Old Oak Common interchange station between HS2, the Great Western Main Line and Crossrail will be a major 

stimulant to the delivery of new homes and jobs in the area, and has resulted in the creation of the Old Oak and Park 

Royal Development Corporation to co-ordinate this development. Good connections are needed between the 

interchange, the OPDC area, and the development areas in the rest of the borough, and the new stations proposed 

by TfL and OPDC at Hythe Road on the West London Line and Old Oak Common Lane on the North London Line are 

essential.  

The current plans for Crossrail 2 do not allow for it to run via, or have a station at, Imperial Wharf, but such a station 

is key to maximising housing and employment development in the south Fulham area. In 2016 the council 

Page 89



 

22 
 

commissioned studies which showed that a Crossrail 2 station at Imperial Wharf could facilitate the provision of up 

to 10,000 new jobs and 3,000 new homes in the area.  

The Council is also keen to progress, in partnership with TfL, the proposal to replace the Hammersmith flyover with a 

tunnel (flyunder). This will contribute to the provision of new homes and jobs in Hammersmith Town Centre by 

improving air quality, reducing the domination of traffic and severance between the centre and the river, and 

releasing land for development. Studies which the Council and the Hammersmith BID (Business Improvement 

District) undertook in 2014 showed that the flyunder could release 363,000m2 floorspace, which could be split 50-50 

between residential and commercial development.  

Borough objectives:  

1.To support sustainable population and employment growth in the borough’s four regeneration areas and the OPDC 

area in the borough.  

Other Mayoral Strategies  

The most important Mayoral Strategy that has been used in the development of this LIP is the London Plan, 

indirectly through the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and the council’s own Local Plan. The Health Inequalities, Air 

Quality, Housing and Social Integration and Economic Development plan strategies are also important, again mainly 

reflected through the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and to a lesser extent the council’s local plan.    

LINKAGES BETWEEN LIP PROJECTS AND PROGRAMMES AND THE MAYOR’S 
TRANSPORT STRATEGY OUTCOMES 

Project / Programme 

M
T

S
 

m
o

d
e
 

s
h

a
re

 

MTS outcomes 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 a

c
ti
v
e

, 
e

ff
ic

ie
n

t,
 

a
n

d
 s

u
s
ta

in
a

b
le

 m
o
d

e
 s

h
a

re
 

N
o
 1

: 
-A

c
ti
v
e
 

N
o
 2

: 
- 

S
a

fe
 

N
o
 3

: 
-E

ff
ic

ie
n

t 

N
o
 4

: 
- 

C
le

a
n

 &
 G

re
e
n
 

N
o
 5

: 
- 

C
o
n

n
e

c
te

d
 

N
o
 6

: 
- 

A
c
c
e

s
s
ib

le
 

N
o
 7

: 
- 

Q
u

a
lit

y
 

N
o
s
 8

 &
 9

 S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 

G
ro

w
th

/U
n

lo
c
k
in

g
 

                    

Cathnor Park and Adelaide 
Grove Area 

x x x  x x 
 

    
 

Sulgrave Road  x x x  x x 
 

    
 

Brackenbury Area x x x  x x 
 

    
 

Du Cane Road    x x             

Margravine Gardens  x x  x x x          

Kelvedon Road x x x  x x 
 

    
 

New King's Road  x x x x   x         

Page 90



 

23 
 

Comprehensive 
neighbourhood traffic 

management and 
environmental review 

x x x  x x x     x 

20mph speed limit x x x   x x        x  

Small Scale Interventions x x x  x  x x x x  x 

Zebra Crossings  x x x  x  x  
  

  
 

Planned Maintenance  x x x  x  x  x     x 

Westtrans       x       x x 

Smarter Travel Programme x x x x  x    x   x 

School Travel Plan Supporting 
measures  

x x x   x x  x x      

Cycle Parking x  x x  x x x x  x   x 

Electric vehicle charging points     x  x x       x  

Low Emission Neighbourhoods x x x  x x x     x 

Streetsmart Review  x x  x x x x x  x  x 

Smart Cities  x x x   x   x       

Street Art x x     x         

River Art Walk feasibility study x x             x 

Completion for the previous 
year 

n/a                  

LIP Preparation  n/a                  

 

Page 91



 

24 
 

DELIVERY PLAN  
The table below shows how the LIP’s projects relate to the Mayor’s Transport Strategy outcomes. 

Table 1- Linkages between LIP projects and programmes and the Mayor’s Transport Strategy outcomes 

TFL BUSINESS PLAN 

On developing and preparing the borough’s programme of works, as outlined in the Delivery Plan, the borough has 

considered the Mayor’s aspiration to deliver the major projects in TfL’s business plan and the milestones associated 

with those projects, including major infrastructure associated with the Growth Areas and Opportunity Areas.  

The following TfL projects have implications for the borough: 

Elizabeth Line 

The line’s main depot at Old Oak Common became operational in 2018. An interchange station is planned with HS2 

and the Great Western main line at this location in the mid 2020s and we will work with TfL, OPDC, HS2, Network 

Rail and the rail operators to ensure an iconic design for the station which maximises development opportunities, 

and the provision of a West London Line station at Hythe Road which will connect with the new interchange. This 

will ensure good connections with the borough’s development areas, and facilitate sustainable development of the 

Hythe Road area. 

In the short term the main effect on the borough will be to free up capacity on the Central Line and, to a lesser 

extent, the Piccadilly Line, which will increase the capacity, comfort, and attractiveness of these underground 

services to support development in the White City, Earl’s Court and Hammersmith Town Centre areas and contribute 

to the sustainability of that development.  

We have also been working with TfL buses on a reorganisation of buses serving Acton Main Line, which will improve 

the reliability of services in the Askew Road area of Shepherd’s Bush and is to come into force on the opening of the 

Elizabeth Line in December 2018. 

Healthy Streets Across London 

Cycle Superhighways 

CS9, CS10 and CS23 are planned to come through Hammersmith & Fulham. The routes of the latter two are still 

under discussion but there was consultation on CS9 in 2017. This put forward a route via Hammersmith Road, 

Hammersmith gyratory and King Street, then into Chiswick High Road. The Council welcomes the superhighways 

(although we think the name is misleading, as they are not intended just for fast, long distance cyclists) but we have 

concerns about the route through King Street and its possible conflict with other Healthy Streets aspirations, notably 

making streets pleasanter and safer for pedestrians, and giving them more space. We have therefore asked TfL to re-

examine the possibility of routing at least part of CS9 along the alignment of the A4. This would be an even more 

attractive route if the Hammersmith Flyunder (see below) were implemented. 

Liveable Neighbourhoods 

We are bidding for a Liveable Neighbourhoods project for North End Road, Fulham. This aims to reduce the amount 

and dominance of motor traffic, increasing the comfort, safety, and attractiveness of the street for pedestrians and 

revitalising the shops and the market.  The project will include urban design measures, using Healthy Streets 

principles. Options being considered are bus and deliveries only, with pedestrianisation at certain times and on 

certain days. This follows on the success of the Saturday traffic free street markets we have held twice or three times 

a year since 2014.  

Page 92



 

25 
 

A Safe, Secure Network 

We will continue our cycle training, lorry driver training, motor cycle training, and road safety education 

programmes and our community safety plan will reduce crime and fear of crime.  

Tackling Traffic 

Our 20mph limit programme, backed up with traffic calming measures to increase compliance in targeted areas will 

help encourage walking and cycling and therefore reduce traffic. We’ll use planning conditions to encourage car free 

businesses and we’ll promote and encourage more car free residential and other developments. We will work with 

TfL and operators and other partners to improve public transport and its accessibility, which will reduce the need to 

use cars, and will work with businesses to reduce the impacts of their deliveries.  

Improving Air Quality 

We have provided over 130 electric vehicle charging points (Source London) by the middle of 2018 and aim to 

provide a further 70 lamp column charging points by the end of the year. We introduced the first electric car club in 

London in 2016 and offered residents free membership for the first year. We have implemented the first phase of 

the air quality scheme in Hammersmith Grove south in June 2018, using LIP, MAQF and NOF funds, with some 

financial support from businesses. We are about to consult on phase 2, which would make Hammersmith Grove 

South one.  of the first zero tailpipe emission zones in the country. We are also investigating the feasibility of making 

Hammersmith Bridge a “zero emission bridge”. We are working closely with Hammersmith BID on their Low 

Emission Neighbourhood plan for part of Hammersmith Town Centre and are developing a “last mile” freight 

delivery scheme with them. We were working with TfL buses on the proposed low/zero emission bus corridors on 

Uxbridge Road and King Street/Hammersmith Road, introducing appropriate priorities and complementary 

measures.   

A good public transport experience 

The modernisation of the Circle, District and Hammersmith and City lines, adding 33% to capacity, will be of great 

benefit to the borough. The Wimbledon branch of the District Line, for example, is the most overcrowded 

Underground line in west or south west London. We expect that this increase in capacity will enable the Olympia 

service of the District Line to be reintroduced on weekdays. This is particularly important in view of the increase in 

use of Olympia as an exhibition venue since the closure of Earl’s Court and plans to develop its use further.  

We also welcome the proposed increase in capacity of the Piccadilly Line and increased frequency on London 

Overground’s West London line. 

The council’s role in these activities will consist largely in improving the comfort, safety, and activity of the walking 

and cycling routes to the stations. TfL’s business plan does not give a list of priority stations for step-free access and 

we would welcome a commitment to prioritise White City (Central Line) and West Kensington., West Brompton and 

Putney Bridge (District Line). As they are at or near the surface, providing lifts at these stations would be relatively 

inexpensive and the first three serve major development areas while Putney Bridge has a large catchment area. 

New Homes and Jobs 

The Council is working closely with the OPDC on the masterplan for the area, to maximise development 

opportunities related to HS2 and the Elizabeth line, and a new West London Line station at Hythe Road which will 

connect HS2 and the Elizabeth Line and the OPDC area with the borough’s development areas at White City, Earl’s 

Court, and South Fulham. The Council strongly supports the routeing of Crossrail 2 via Imperial Wharf with an 

interchange station there (see Long Term Interventions below)    

  

Page 93



 

26 
 

POTENTIAL FUNDING FOR LIP DELIVERY 

Funding Source 2019/20 

£k 

2020/21 

£k 

2021/22 

£k 

Total 

£k 

TfL/GLA Funding 

LIP Formula – Corridors and Supporting 

Measures 

1,498.2 1,498.2 1,498.2 4494.6 

Discretionary Funding (see 3-year 

programme) 

37,880 3,880 3,880 45,640 

Strategic Funding 3,580 3,580 3,580 10,740 

GLA Funding 

Sub-Total 42,948 8,948 8,948 60,844 

Borough Funding 

Capital funding     

Revenue funding     

Parking revenue 20,000 20,000 20,000 60,000 

Workplace Parking Levy 

Sub-total 20,000 20,000 20,000 60,000 

Other Sources 

S106 4,000 4,000 4,000 12,000 

CIL 5,000 5,000 5,000 15,000 

Sustainable Urban Drainage 100 100 1000 100 

Sub total 9,100 9,100 9,100 27,100 

Total 72,048.2 38048.2 38048.2 148,144.2 

    

LONG TERM INTERVENTIONS TO 2041 

In the medium to long term the council believes that a number of significant, but currently unfunded, investments 

will be required to ensure the economic and social vitality of the borough. These are shown in Table – below with 

indicative funding and indicative but uncommitted timescales 

Page 94



 

27 
 

Table— Long-term interventions up to 2041 

Project Approx. 
Date 

Indicative Cost Likely funding 
source 

Comments 

Hammersmith 
Flyunder 

2024-27 £218 million-£1.7 
billion 

CIL, S106, TfL, GLA, 
Developers, LBHF 

Costs depend on length of 
option chosen 

Crossrail 2 station at 
Imperial Wharf 

2023 £800 million TfL, DfT, CIL, S106, 
developers 

Construction costs greater than 
current plan but this will be 
outweighed by development 
gains 

Pedestrian/cycle 
Bridge over Thames 
at Imperial Wharf 

2024 £15 million Developers, s106, 
LB Wandsworth, 
TfL 

 

West London Line 
station at Hythe Road 

2026 £30 million TfL, Developers, 
CIL, S106, OPDC 

To provide good connections 
between south and south-west 
London, the rest of the borough, 
and the HS2/Elizabeth line/GWR 
station    

Restrict north side of 
Shepherd’s Bush 
Green to pedestrians, 
cycles, and buses only 

2026 £10 million TfL, Developers, 
CIL, S106 

Could be implemented in 
conjunction with CS10 and the 
“cycle hamburger” at Holland 
Park roundabout. 

     

 

Commentary on Longer Term Schemes 

 
Hammersmith Flyunder: The Council and TfL undertook some feasibility studies in 2013/14 on replacing the  

A4 Hammersmith Flyover with a tunnel, or flyunder.  The idea proved extremely popular with residents and 

businesses. The benefits would include:  

 

  Improving air quality by “burying” a significant amount of through traffic, 

  Improving pedestrian and cyclist connections between the town centre and the riverside 

recreational and cultural facilities, 

Page 95



 

28 
 

  Enabling the Hammersmith gyratory to be returned to two-way working, allowing possible 

pedestrianisation of the western (Queen Caroline Street) leg. 

  Releasing land for residential, commercial, and cultural developments. 

 

The cost of the scheme would depend on which option is chosen, a shorter or longer one. We are currently 

re-examining the costs and benefits of the scheme with a view to reopening discussions with TfL on how to 

take the project forward. 

 

Provision of a Crossrail 2 Station at Imperial Wharf 

 

The current plan is for the section of Crossrail 2 between Clapham Junction and Victoria to be routed via 

King’s Road, Chelsea, with a station there. The regeneration opportunities in the King’s Road area are 

minimal, while a slightly longer route via Imperial Wharf, could be the key to unlocking regeneration 

opportunities on large areas of brownfield land in south Fulham. In 2016 the Council commissioned 

consultants Farrells, along with CERC, Pell Frischmann, Carter Jonas, Integra, Movement strategies, and 

Regeneris to examine the case for the Imperial Wharf route. They concluded that it could facilitate the 

provision of 10,000 new homes, 3,000 new jobs and provide £6 billion economic benefits. The additional 

construction costs (estimated at £200 million) and running costs (estimated at £240 million per year) would 

be far outweighed by these benefits, given that the purpose of Crossrail 2 is to facilitate “good growth”. 

 

Pedestrian/Cycle Bridge over the Thames at Imperial Wharf. 

 

Such a bridge, either closely parallel to, or bolted on to, the West London Line bridge over the Thames, 

would give a significant advantage to walking and cycling over the Thames between Wandsworth and 

Battersea and Fulham, Kensington and the West End over motorised modes and would give residents of 

North Battersea quick and easy walking and cycle access to Imperial Wharf station. The cost of such a bridge 

has been estimated at £15 million and one such proposal has been given planning permission by 

Wandsworth and Hammersmith & Fulham Councils. It is understood that a significant developer 

contribution was available on the Wandsworth side, but the current position on this is not clear. 

 

West London Line station at Hythe Road 

 

TfL have consulted on proposals for a station here, and at Old Oak Common Lane on the North London Line, 

and both stations achieved overwhelming popular support. The Hythe Road is necessary to provide 

interchange with the proposed HS2/Elizabeth Line/GWR interchange station at Old Oak Common and 

extend the benefits of HS2 and the Elizabeth Line to the borough’s regeneration areas at White City, Earl’s 

Court, and South Fulham, and into south and south west London via Clapham Junction. The Hythe Road 

station would also ensure good public transport access new developments in the eastern part of the OPDC 

area. We now understand that funding availability for the station is in question, but if it is not provided, 

people interchanging between the West London Line and HS2/GWR/Elizabeth Line will face a long walk of 

up to a mile or more (depending on the eventual road/footpath layout) from Willesden Junction or 

an additional change of train there, assuming the Old Oak Common Lane North London 

Line station is built.  

 

Restrict north side of Shepherd’s Bush Green to pedestrians, cyclists, and buses only. 

Page 96



 

29 
 

 

There has been a local aspiration for many years to remove traffic from the north side of Shepherd’s Bush 

Green, to improve the environment of the shops there and make a better connection between these shops, the 

public transport interchange and Westfield and Shepherd’s Bush Common. This was last considered some 13 

years ago in relation to the now abandoned West London tram proposals. It would involve two-way traffic 

operation on the south and west side of the green and some construction work at the junctions with Uxbridge 

Road and Goldhawk Road. This could help reduce rat-running on some local streets such as Hammersmith 

Grove. We are currently in discussion with TfL on the route of CS10, and the option which seems most likely to 

be favoured is a route from the A40 west of White City via Wood Lane then Shepherd’s Bush Green to Holland 

Park Roundabout, where TfL have developed plans for a “cycling hamburger” (straight across crossing) at the 

Holland Park Roundabout. Removing general traffic from and allowing two-way cycling (and buses) on the north 

side of the green would be highly compatible with this proposal.     

 

  

THREE YEAR INDICATIVE PROGRAMME OF INVESTMENT 

The three-year indicative programme of investment summarising the borough’s proposals for the use of TfL borough 

funding in the period 2019/20-2021/22. 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
TFL BOROUGH FUNDING 2019/20 to 2021/22  

Programme Budget 
 
Allocated/bid 
2019/20 

 
 
 
Indicative 
2020/21 

 
 
 
Indicative 
2021/22 

Local Transport Initiatives £000 £000 £000 

Corridor, Neighbourhoods & Supporting 
Measures 

1,498.2 1,498.2 1498.2 

DISCRETIONARY FUNDING    

Liveable Neighbourhoods 1,250 1,250 1,250 

    

Principal Road Renewal 500 500 500 

Bridge Strengthening 28,000 8000 0 

Traffic Signal Modernisation 230 230 230 

Sub total 29980 9980 1980 

STRATEGIC FUNDING    

Bus Priority 120 £120 £120 

Borough Cycling Programme 250 £250 £250 

London Cycle Grid 5,000 10,000 15,000 

Crossrail Complementary Works    

Mayor’s Air Quality Fund 75 75 75 

Low Emission Neighbourhoods 135 130 130 

Roads 2010 670 670 670 

Sub total 6250 11245 16245 

All TfL borough funding 37528.2  36223.2 22743.2 

 

Page 97



 

30 
 

SUPPORTING COMMENTARY FOR THE THREE YEAR AND ANNUAL PROGRAMME 

The programme consists of the following projects: 

Cathnor Park and Adelaide Grove Area Traffic Management/Filtered Permeability 

Residents in these areas complain about rat-running and we need to look at areas holistically to avoid simply 

diverting traffic from one street to its neighbours. We have allocated £20,000 for investigation in 2018/9 and 

£100,000 for implementation in each of 2019/20 and 2020/21, following which the project should be complete.   

Sulgrave Road area traffic management and filtered permeability. 

Concerns about conflicting traffic movements and Cycle gaps in road closures being used by criminals on 

motorcycles. £50,000 allocated in 2018/9 (Lena/Batoum Gardens and Poplar Grove. £100,000 proposed for 2019/20, 

following which the project should be complete).  

Brackenbury Area traffic management and filtered permeability 

To address concerns about rat running, particularly by HGVs, school run traffic and possible traffic displacement 

form 2018/19 schemes in Hammersmith Grove. £50,000 proposed for 2019/20, following which the project should 

be complete.  

Du Cane Road Traffic Calming 

Provision of traffic calming to ensure speed limit compliance and reduce collisions compatible with need for 

emergency ambulance access to Hammersmith Hospital. Continuation of 2018/9 scheme. £50,000 in 2019/20, 

following which the scheme will be complete.  

Margravine Gardens 

Measures to reduce use of narrow residential roads by HGVs, including gateway treatment and speed tables. 

£50,0000 in 2019/20 only.   

Kelvedon Road Area Traffic Management/Filtered Permeability 

Measures to reduce rat running in this area. £50,000 in 2019/20 and 2020/21.  

New King’s Road area traffic management 

New King’s Road area traffic management: We have allocated £130,000 for improvements to cyclist safety in 

2018/19, and the project has been combined with another one (Burlington Road £25k) which aims to reduce rat 

running and traffic speeds in residential streets to the north of New King’s Road. We are also receiving complaints 

about rat running and conflicting traffic movements from residents of streets to the south of New King’s Road 

(Hurlingham, South Park and Perrymead Road areas). Ideas for filtered permeabilty in these roads, such as banned 

turns, HGV bans, more effective bus gates and road closures with cycle gaps are being explored. We want to expand 

the project by testing, consulting on, and, where appropriate, implementing these measures and estimate that this 

will cost £100,000 in 2019/20 and a further £100,000 in 2020/21 following which the project will be complete.  

Comprehensive neighbourhood traffic management and environmental review. 

Including filtered permeability and Healthy Streets. Areas to be determined in response to residents, members, and 

stakeholders’ priorities. 2019/20 funds committed to other schemes, with £100,000 estimated in each of 2020/21 

and 2021/22,  

Page 98



 

31 
 

20mph speed limit 

From 2000 onwards, the council introduced a rolling programme of 20mph zones or Home Zones, and by 2010 these 

covered about a third of the borough’s local roads.  In September 2016 we made an experimental Traffic 

Management Order limiting the speed on all the borough’s roads apart from a few stretches of “A” Road outside 

town centres to 20mph. In September 2017 the council agreed to make the limit permanent. Our strategy since then 

has been to monitor the effects of the limit and compliance with it. We have since then implemented measures to 

increase compliance, prioritising according to speed and volume levels, collision statistics and concerns expressed by 

residents and councillors. Measures include the installation of variable message signs (usually as a short term “quick 

win” which also monitors speeds and volumes), sinusoidal humps, raised entry tables, narrowing of road entries, and 

“psychological narrowing” e.g. by planting trees and other measures to make streets look more like places where 

people live rather than somewhere to be driven through.  We are spending £130,000 LIP funding for this in 2018-19, 

and anticipate spending £100,000 in each of the three years of this LIP programme, by which time the project should 

be complete. We note that 20mph limits form a key part of the Mayor’s “Vision Zero” strategy, and that TfL intend to 

introduce a 20mph limit on part of the A4 in Hammersmith.  

Small scale local interventions. 

£40,000 per year to respond to requests for small scale interventions from residents and councillors, including 

accessibility improvements such as dropped kerbs and measures to discourage motor cycles from contravening road 

closures. 

Requests for Formal Pedestrian Crossings 

We get a number of requests from residents for formal crossings, either signalled or zebras, each year, usually as a 

result of perceived danger (“near misses”) rather than collisions. Formal crossings are not necessarily the best 

solution in all circumstances so requests are evaluated and solutions agreed. This may mean, for example, a raised 

table rather than a formal crossing. We have allocated £100,000 to this project in 2018-9, but there has been a 

backlog of requests in recent years so we expect the demand to reduce in future. Therefore, we propose to spend 

£50,000 on this project in each of the three years of this LIP programme. 

Planned Maintenance Enhancements 

£90,000 for three years. This aims to maximise value for money when resurfacing roads and footways; by 

implementing design changes to complement the maintenance work. It can include traffic calming, improvements, 

such as replacing cushions with sinusoidal humps, Sustainable Urban Drainage schemes, tree planting and smart 

technology subject to consultation with residents.  

Westtrans 

£12,000 contribution in each year to the Westtrans Strategic partnership of west London boroughs. Focus is on 

reducing impact of HGVs, e.g. with “last mile” delivery schemes using low or zero emission vehicles, and monitoring 

and promotion of business, college, and faith group travel plans. 

Smarter travel programme  

£265k this year and same amount for the next three years. This covers school and workplace travel plan 

development and monitoring, road safety education and training, motorcycle safety, school pedestrian training, 

Safer Urban Driving courses for goods vehicle drivers, cycle training for adults and children, car free days, play street 

and other events. Important as part of the “vision zero” road casualty target and to “nudge” the behaviour change 

necessary to achieve the MTS modal share targets.  

School Travel Plan supporting measures   

This project is to enable improvements to be made to highways to increase the safety and convenience of walking 

and cycling routes to schools in response to issues raised in school travel plans and their reviews. The adverse effects 

Page 99



 

32 
 

of children being driven to and dropped off at schools in terms of safety, air quality and the health and fitness of 

children are becoming an increasing concern of residents and therefore we intend to double the 2018/9 allocation of 

£50k to £100k in future years. Among the schools which have requested improvements are Thomas's London Day 

School; Ecole Marie d'Orliac (Fulham); Melcombe; Wendell Park; Fulham Pre-Prep School; Saint John XXIII (was Pope 

John); Addison; Sir John Lillie; Lena Gdns; St Pauls and Wormholt Park.  

Cycle Parking 

£75,000 for secure cycle parking, including bike hangars, and £8,000 for standard parking (Sheffield stands) in each 

of the three years. The first bike hangars were installed in the Spring of 2018 and are proving very popular.   

Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

We have installed some 130 EV charging points as part of the Source London scheme and some rapid charging points 

at Wormwood Scrubs car park, with others committed in Hammersmith Town Centre. We now plan to complement 

these with lamp column charging points and need £20,000 per year match funding for funds obtained from OLEV 

(Office for Low Emission Vehicles) and GULCS (Go Ultra-Low City Scheme)  

Air Quality Initiatives  

Hammersmith Low Emission Neighbourhood encompasses several low emission projects around Hammersmith, 

notably Hammersmith Grove and the Business Low Emission Neighbourhood. We propose £80,000 to 

complete/expand the scheme in 2019/20 and £100,000 in each of 2020/21 and 21/22 for similar schemes either 

elsewhere in Hammersmith or other parts of the borough.  

Review of Streetsmart Design Guide  

Our design guide, Streetsmart, was produced in 2005 and needs to be comprehensively updated to take into account 

developments since then, notably Healthy Streets, Sustainable Urban Drainage and increased emphasis on air 

quality, improved street furniture designs and changes to town centre identities. £10,000 in 2019/20.   

Smart Cities  

The council’s ambition is to embed smart technology within council infrastructure. Some possible examples include 

smart gullies, which notify the council of blockages, allowing less maintenance, and con also monitor traffic flows, 

and modular lighting which allows multiple functions on the same light column. We are proposing £20,000 for each 

of the years for this project. 

Street Art 

£20,000 for each of the three years, to show a holistic approach to Healthy Streets. Having interesting things to see 

and do is one of the Healthy Streets indicators. Street art can provide such interest. Examples include sculpture, 

façade painting and temporary installations.  We would expect this to be match funded from several sources.  

River Art Walk feasibility study  

Improve the walkability of riverside by providing an art installation spaces. The project could potentially support a 

sculpture festival like those held in other cities. Could be funded in part by Fulham Football Club redevelopment and 

Tideway 106 money. £15,000 in 2019/20  

Completion of previous years' projects 

£50,000 in each year to cover possible delays (e.g. due to the need to programme works so that they don’t conflict 

with others) and unanticipated cost increases (e.g. due to additional works needed to statutory undertakers’ 

equipment.  

Page 100



 

33 
 

LIP Annual Spending Programme Preparation 

Preparation and prioritisation of schemes to submit to TfL for funding in 2020/21 and following two years. £43,200 

in each year.  

SCHEMES NOT FUNDED THROUGH LIP NEIGHBOURHOODS AND CORRIDORS 

Principal roads maintenance:  

LBHF had been initially allocated £400,000 funding for this on 2018/9, but this was withdrawn in response to TfL’s 

changed financial circumstances. TfL’s business plan makes no mention of restoration of this funding, but without it 

the roads will deteriorate and increase the risk of collisions, with cyclists particularly vulnerable. We therefore 

propose £500,000 in each of the three years.  

Roads 2010:  

Continuing the London wide survey of Principal road conditions, which the council undertakes on behalf of TfL, 

which helps prioritise areas for improvement. £670,000 in each of the three years 

Bridge Strengthening. 

The surface of Hammersmith Bridge is in very poor condition and in the last few years we have had to resort to 

occasional closures for “make do and mend” patching. This is unsatisfactory and a complete reconstruction of the 

surface is needed, with possible strengthening to allow electric double deck buses to run over the bridge. Provisional 

suggestion is £28 million in 19/20 and £8 million in 20/21, though work could start in 18/19 if funding is made 

available.     

Borough Cycling Programme:  

In April 2019 we expect to have a new Cycling Strategy that aims to meet the aspirations in the MTS and Council’s 

Manifesto. The current success of implementing 20mph on our streets has improved the opportunity for more of our 

residents to cycle but the whole road and street network in the Borough and how it supports cycling (and walking) 

needs reviewing and new Quietway’s identified, in addition the London Cycle Network needs to be reviewed and 

updated. 

We will carry out an initial survey of existing cycle routes and desire lines and assess them against the Healthy 

Streets criteria, and thus identify which routes compliment the proposed cycle superhighways. We intend to review 

and address the cycle level of service on Goldhawk and Uxbridge roads. Both these roads will link to the cycle priority 

routes passing through Shepherd's Bush Green and should therefore be updated to allow easy access and egress. 

Currently both roads suffer from a conflict with business parking and have very little appropriate North-South 

connections.  

Quietway’s 
The programme over three years will also identify new Quietway routes across the borough and implement safety 

changes, junction changes, and a comprehensive signing strategy to enable our residents to navigate around the 

borough more easily. 

London Cycle Grid  
The development and implementation of segregated cycle routes across the borough will create a network of ‘Cycle 

Superhighways’ within the Borough that will aim to meet the MTS target of every resident living within 400m of a 

segregated cycle route. CS9, CS10 and CS23 along with additional Quietway Routes such as Q2 and the Thames Paths 

Quietway will be the core of achieving this aim, and will be delivered over the next 5 years. The overall estimated 

costs of CS9, 10 and 23 are approximately, £12m, £15m, and £20m (£47m estimated total). Based on delivery over 

Page 101



 

34 
 

the next three years the conservative spend in the Borough will be around £5m in 2019, £10m in 2020 and £15m in 

2021, increasing per annum as schemes are developed. 

Mayor’s Air Quality Fund 

Match funding for schemes described in no 9 of LIP projects above. £75,000 and £135,000 assumed respectively in 

each of the three years. 

Bus Priorities   

Schemes to be developed and agreed with TfL, including continuation and completion of 2018/19 schemes such as 

Stamford Brook Road/Goldhawk Road junction works. £120,000 for each of the three years. 

Pedestrian and cycle subway under the West London Line  

This will link the Imperial College campus, the other White city developments, the Westfield Shopping Centre, and 

Shepherd’s Bush with residential areas in north-west Kensington, giving access by these modes a significant 

advantage over travel by private motor vehicles. It is being funded by Imperial College as part of a Section 106 

agreement with the council and is expected to cost some £6 million and be completed by 2021. No TfL funding is 

currently required.  

RISKS TO THE DELIVERY OF THE THREE-YEAR PROGRAMME. 

The table below shows the principal risks associated with delivery of the LIP together with possible mitigation 

actions for the three-year programme. The risk register summarises the strategic risks identified that could impact 

on the three-year programme of schemes and initiatives. 

 

Risk Likelihood (H,M,L) Potential Mitigation Measures Impact if not mitigated 

Financial Cost increase/budget 
reduction: M 

All designs developed to be 
flexible to meet objectors’ 
concerns 

Scheme halted or delayed until 
funds become available; 
alternative funding sources sought 

Statutory/legal Objectors to schemes 
seek legal action, e.g. 
Judicial Review: L 

Negotiate to modify schemes 
to meet objectors’ concerns 

Scheme cancelled 

Third party Insufficient resources of 
contractors to complete 
work: M  

Retain framework 
contractors/consultants to 
ensure resources ae in place 

Delays in scheme implementation 

Public/political Lack of support for 
scheme in consultation: 
M 
Conflicts between TfL 
response to draft LIP and 
those of other 
consultees, both 
statutory and general 

Negotiate to modify scheme 
to meet objectors’ concerns 
 
Negotiate satisfactory 
amendments/compromises 

Scheme cancelled 
 
 
LIP not approved by TfL or legal 
action taken against council for not 
taking consultation response into 
account. 

 

 

Annual Programme of Schemes and Initiatives 

The provisional annual programme of schemes has been completed and will be submitted to TfL via the Borough 

Portal. The programme of schemes will be updated annually.  

Page 102



 

35 
 

The supporting commentary is included in the supporting commentary for the three-year programme above 

Risk Assessment for the annual programme  

The risk assessment for the annual programme is included in the risk assessment table for the three-year 

programme above. 

MONITORING THE DELIVERY OF THE OUTCOMES OF THE MAYOR’S TRANSPORT 
STRATEGY 

Overarching mode-share aim and outcome indicators 

Delivery Indicators 

The borough will monitor and record the delivery indicators and report to TfL once a year in June 

using Proforma C. 

Local Targets 

Table—Borough Outcome Indicator Targets (all figures supplied by TfL) 

Objective Metric Borough 
Target 

Target 
Year 

Additional 
commentary 

Overarching Mode Share Aim 
– changing the transport mix  

    

Londoners’ trips to be on foot, 
by bicycle or by public 
transport 

Active, efficient, and sustainable (walking, 
cycling and public transport) mode share 
(by borough resident) based on average 
daily trips. Base period 2013/14-2015/6  

78% base 
year 
 
81% 
 
 
89% 

 
 
 
15/16 
 
 
2041 

 

Healthy Streets and Healthy 
People 

    

Outcome 1: London’s Streets 
will be healthy and more 
Londoners will travel actively 

    

Londoners to do at least the 20 
minutes of active travel they 
need to stay healthy every day 

Proportion of London residents doing at 
least 2 x 10 minutes of active travel a day 
(or a single block of 20 minutes or more  

43% base 
 
48% 
 
70% 

 
 
2021 
 
2041 

 

Londoners have access to a 
safe and pleasant cycle 
network 

Proportion of Londoners living within 400 
metres of the London wide strategic cycle 
network.  

0 base 
 
16 
 
 
90 

 
 
2021 
 
 
2041 

 

Outcome 2: London’s streets 
will be safe and secure 

    

Deaths and serious injuries 
(KSIs) from all road collisions to 
be eliminated from our streets 

 KSIs from road collisions, base year 
2005/09 (for 2022 target) 

109 base 
 
 
38 
21 
 

 
 
 
2022 
2030 
 

 

Page 103



 

36 
 

  KSIs from road collisions base year 
2010/14 (for 2030 target) 

71 base 
 
21 
0 

 
 
2030 
2041 

 

Outcome 3: London’s Streets 
will be used more efficiently 
and have less traffic on them 

    

Reduce the volume of traffic in 
London 

Vehicle kilometres in given year. Base year 
2015.Reduce overall traffic levels by 10-
15% 

506 base 
 
506 
 
405-430 

 
 
2021 
 
2041 

 

Reduce the number of freight 
trips in the central London 
morning peak 

10% reduction in number of freight 
vehicles crossing into central London in 
the morning peak by 2026 

N/A N/A  

Reduce car ownership in 
London 

Total cars owned and car ownership per 
household, borough residents. 250k fewer 
cars owned in London. Base period 2013/4 
-2015/16 

43896 
base 
 
45,600 
 
43,700 
 
 

 
 
2021 
 
2041 

 

Outcome 4: London’s streets 
will be clean and green 

    

Reduced CO2 emissions CO2 emissions (in tonnes) from road 
transport within the borough. Base year 
2015/16 

107,400 
base 
 
93,400 
 
24,400 

 
 
2021 
 
2041 

 

Reduced NOx emissions NOx emissions(in tonnes) from road 
transport within borough. Base year 2013. 

420 base 
 
140 
 
20 

 
 
2021 
 
2041 

 

Reduced particulate emissions PM10 and PM2.5 emissions (in tonnes) 
from road transport  within borough. Base 
year 2013 

22 base 
 
14 
 
8 

 
 
2021 
 
2041 
 
 

 

A good public transport 
experience   

    

Outcome 5:      

The public transport network 
will meet the needs of a 
growing London 

    

More trips by public transport 
– 14-15 million trips made by 
public transport every day by 
2041 

Trips per day by trip origin. Reported as 
3yr moving average. Base year 2013/14-
2015/16. 

157 base 
 
161 
 

 
 
2021 
 

 

Page 104



 

37 
 

243 2041 

Outcome 6: Public transport 
will be safe, affordable, and 
accessible to all 

    

Everyone will be able to travel 
spontaneously and 
independently 

Reduce the difference between total 
public transport journey time and step 
free public transport network journey time 

10mins 
(79-69) 
base 
 
5mins 
(65-60) 

 
2015 
 
2041 

 

Outcome 7: Journeys by public 
transport will be pleasant, 
fast, and reliable 

    

Bus journeys will be quick and 
reliable, and an attractive 
alternative to the car. 

Annualised average bus speeds, base year 
2015/16. 

8.4 base 
 
8.6 
(+15%) 
 
8.5 (+5%) 

 
 
2021 
 
2041 

 

New homes and jobs      

Outcome 8: Active, efficient, 
and sustainable travel will be 
the best options in new 
developments 

    

Outcome 9: Transport 
investment will unlock the 
delivery of new jobs 
 

    

No outcome indicators     

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

Page 105



LBHF EqIA Tool           1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

H&F Equality Impact Analysis Tool  
  
 
Conducting an Equality Impact Analysis 
 
An EqIA is an improvement process which helps to determine whether our policies, practices, or new proposals will impact 
on, or affect different groups or communities. It enables officers to assess whether the impacts are positive, negative, or 
unlikely to have a significant impact on each of the protected characteristic groups. 
 
The tool has been updated to reflect the new public sector equality duty (PSED). The Duty highlights three areas in which 
public bodies must show compliance. It states that a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard 
to the need to: 
 
1. Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is prohibited under this Act; 
 
2. Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it; 
 
3. Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 

not share it. 
 
Whilst working on your Equality Impact Assessment, you must analyse your proposal against the three tenets of the 
Equality Duty. 
  
 

P
age 106



LBHF EqIA Tool           2 

 

General points 
 

1. In the case of matters such as service closures or reductions, considerable thought will need to be given to any 
potential equality impacts. Case law has established that due regard cannot be demonstrated after the decision has 
been taken. Your EIA should be considered at the outset and throughout the development of your proposal, it should 
demonstrably inform the decision, and be made available when the decision is recommended.  
 

2. Wherever appropriate, the outcome of the EIA should be summarised in the Cabinet/Cabinet Member report and 
equalities issues dealt with and cross referenced as appropriate within the report. 

 
3. Equalities duties are fertile ground for litigation and a failure to deal with them properly can result in considerable 

delay, expense, and reputational damage. 
 

4. Where dealing with obvious equalities issues e.g. changing services to disabled people/children, take care not to lose 
sight of other less obvious issues for other protected groups. 

 
5. If you already know that your decision is likely to be of high relevance to equality and/or be of high public interest, you 

should contact the Equality Officer for support.  
 

6. Further advice and guidance can be accessed from the separate guidance document (on the intranet) or ACAS - EIA. 
Or you can contact the councils Equalities Lead (see below).  
 

 
 
 
 

Equality Lead: Fawad Bhatti (Policy & 
Strategy)  
Fawad.bhatti@lbhf.gov.uk  
020 8753 3437 
 

P
age 107

http://www.acas.org.uk/media/pdf/s/n/Acas_managers_guide_to_equality_assessments.pdf
mailto:Fawad.bhatti@lbhf.gov.uk


LBHF EqIA Tool           3 

 H&F Equality Impact Analysis Tool 
 

Overall Information Details of Full Equality Impact Analysis 

Financial Year and 
Quarter 

2018/19 

Name and details of 
policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or programme  

Title of EIA: Transport Local Implementation Plan 2019-204(LIP 3) 
This plan is a statutory requirement which shows how we intend to implement the Mayor of London’s Transport 
Strategy in the borugh in the three years 2019/20,20/21 and 21/22.  
 
Short summary:  
 
Note: If your proposed strategy will require you to assess impact on staff, please consult your HR Relationship 
Manager. 
 

Lead Officer Name: Chris Bainbridge 
Position: Acring Chief Transport Planner 
Email: chris.bainbridge@lbhf.gov.uk 
Telephone No:0208 753 3354 

Date of completion of 
final EIA 

17/08/2018 

 

 

Section 02  Scoping of Full EIA 

Plan for completion Timing: February 2019  
Resources: 
 

Analyse the impact of 
the policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or programme 

Analyse the impact of the policy on the protected characteristics (including where people / groups may appear in 
more than one protected characteristic). You should use this to determine whether the policy will have a positive, 
neutral, or negative impact on equality, giving due regard to relevance and proportionality. 
 

Protected 
characteristic 

Analysis  
 

Impact: 
Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral 

Age The plan aims to benefit older people by improving the comfort, safety and 
security of walking and cycling routes, improving public transport services and 
their accessibility, increasing the use of electric and other low emission vehicles, 

 

P
age 108



LBHF EqIA Tool           4 

reducing motor traffic  

Disability One of the objectives of the LIP is to make it easier for everyone to gain access 
to transport opportunites. This will be done by working with TfL to increase the 
number of rail stations in the borough with step free access and ensuring buses 
and bus stops are accessible, and by designing the street environment in a way 
which benefits disabled people  

 

Gender 
reassignment 

No specific implications, but transgender people will benefit from a less hostile 
street and public transport environment 

 

 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

No specific impications  

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Step free access to stations, accessible buses and bus stops, street layouts 
which are convenient for people with buggies and better crossing facilities will 
benefit pregnant women and those with young children 

 

Race No specific implications, but people in ethnic minority groups will benefit from a 
less hostile street and public transport environment. 

 

Religion/belief 
(including non-
belief) 

No specific implications, but people of minority faiths will benefit from a less 
hostile street environment. 

 

Sex No specific implications but people of each gender will benefit from a less hostile 
street and public transport environment.  
 

 

Sexual 
Orientation 

No specific implications but LGBTQ people will benefit from a less hostile street 
and public transport environment.  

 

 
Human Rights or Children’s Rights 
If your decision has the potential to affect Human Rights or Children’s Rights, please contact your Equality Lead for 
advice 
 
Will it affect Human Rights, as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998?  
No 
 
Will it affect Children’s Rights, as defined by the UNCRC (1992)? 
No 

P
age 109



LBHF EqIA Tool           5 

 

 

Section 03 Analysis of relevant data  
Examples of data can range from census data to customer satisfaction surveys. Data should involve specialist data 
and information and where possible, be disaggregated by different equality strands.   

Documents and data 
reviewed 

 Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy, LBHF Local Plan 2018, LBHF Business Plan 2018-2022, Inclusive 
Environments, Design Council, Inclusive Environments, Guide Dogs for the Blignd, Manual for streets, Department 
for Transport, Health Impact of Cars in London, Mayor of London 

New research If new research is required, please complete this section  

 

Section 04 Consultation 

Consultation Consultation to be undertaken on this draft, with groups representing disabled people, police, neighbouring 
authorites, residents’, business, community and transport interest groups  

Analysis of 
consultation outcomes  

  

 
 

Section 05 Analysis of impact and outcomes 

Analysis TfL’s data has shown a 10 minute gap between journeys by public transport with step free access and other journeys 
(79 -69 minutes) The target is to reduce this to 5 minutes (65-60) by 2041   

 
 

Section 06 Reducing any adverse impacts and recommendations 

Outcome of Analysis More rail stations need to be given step-free access, and we need to ensure that walking routes to stations are 
accessible.  

 
 

Section 07 Action Plan 

Action Plan   
 

Issue identified Action (s) to be 
taken 

When Lead officer and 
borough 

Expected 
outcome 

Date added to 
business/service 
plan 

P
age 110



LBHF EqIA Tool           6 

Longer journey 
times for 
disabled people 

Improve access -
ibility of transport 
networks 

Throughout plan 
period 

TfL/LBHF Reduced 
disadvantages of 
disabled people 

In LIP 

 

 

Section 08 Agreement, publication and monitoring 

Chief Officers’ sign-off Name: Mahmood Siddiqi 
Position:Director, Transport an Highways  
Email: mahmood.siddiqi@lbhf.gov.uk 
Telephone No:0208 753 3019 

Key Decision Report 
(if relevant) 

Date of report to Cabinet/Cabinet Member: 05/11/18  
Key equalities issues have been included: Yes 

Equalities Lead (where 
involved) 

Name:  
Position:  
Date advice / guidance given: 
Email:  
Telephone No:  

 

P
age 111



Community Safety and Environment PAC Work Programme 2018/19 
 
 
 

5 September 2018 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Draft Transport Local Implementation Plan. Chris Bainbridge This is a statutory document which will show how we 
will implement the Mayor of London’s Transport 
Strategy in the borough, focussing on the next three 
years but looking ahead as far as 2041. 

Weed Removal Strategy 
 

Simon Davis/ 
Lesley Gates 

To consider the current method of non-chemical weed 
removal and the ongoing work undertaken by the 
Council. 

Highway Maintenance 
 

Ian Hawthorn To consider the the statutory duties and requirements 
that the Council is required to perform and ensure 
that its highway network is safe in wintery conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 

5 December 2018 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Community safety, crime, and disorder 
 

Simon Paterson An introduction to crime and disorder in the borough 
and consider the Council’s priorities. 

The Council’s strategy around it’s CCTV network Simon Paterson To consider the Councils strategy around its CCTV 
network including moped and bike crime 

 
 
 
 

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 7



Community Safety and Environment PAC Work Programme 2018/19 
 
 
 
 
 

Future meeting dates – 

6 February, 27 March 2018 

Potential future items: 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Parks and open spaces 
 

Ullash Karia To consider the Council’s use of public and green 
spaces, including maintence and facilities. 

Parking 
 

David Taylor To consider the Council’s parking policy and options 
on how this could be improved for the benefit of 
residents. 

Electrical charging points 
 

Ian Hawthorne To consider the Council’s strategy around electrical 
charging points. 

The Councils recycling policy Terry Oliver 
 

To consider the Council’s plan for recycling, the 
issues faced and options on how this would be 
improved. 

 
 
 

P
age 113


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Highway Maintenance
	Winter Service Policy
	Winter Service Plan

	5 Weed Removal Strategy
	6 Draft Transport Local Implementation Plan
	Draft LIP
	LIP Equalities Assessment

	7 Committee Work Programme

